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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Maxim Power Corp. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Maxim Power Corp. (the “Entity”), which comprise: 

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 

• the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy 
information 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements” section of our auditor’s report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our auditor’s 
report. 

Assessment of indicators of impairment for property, plant and equipment – generating facilities and equipment 

Description of the matter 

We draw attention to notes 2(e)(i), 3(e) and 7 to the financial statements. The Entity records property, plant and 
equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. At the end of each reporting period, 
the Entity makes an assessment whether there are any indicators of impairment of its property, plant and 
equipment. If there are indicators of impairment, the Entity performs an impairment test of the asset or the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”). The assessment of impairment indicators is based on management’s significant 
judgment of whether there are internal or external factors that would indicate that the CGU and specifically the 
assets within that CGU are impaired. The assessment of external indicators considers future commodity prices. 
The assessment of internal indicators considers forecasted cash flows. Property, plant and equipment – 
generating facilities and equipment were recorded at a carrying amount of $292,334 thousand. No indicators of 
impairment were identified for property, plant and equipment – generating facilities and equipment as at 
December 31, 2024. 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 

We identified the assessment of indicators of impairment for property, plant and equipment – generating facilities 
and equipment as a key audit matter. Significant auditor judgment was required in evaluating the assessment of 
internal and external indicators. 

How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter included the following:  

We evaluated the Entity’s identification and assessment of indicators of impairment for property, plant and 
equipment – generating facilities and equipment by comparing actual financial results for property, plant and 
equipment – generating facilities and equipment in the current year against historical financial results and to 
forecasted cash flows. We considered changes in conditions and events affecting the forecasted cash flows.  

We evaluated the Entity’s assessment of future commodity prices by comparing them to future commodity prices 
published by a third-party energy service provider.  
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises:  

• the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian 
Securities Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other 
information appears to be materially misstated.   

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian 
Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditor’s report.   If, based on the work we have performed on this 
other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact in the auditor’s report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Entity's internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.  

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work 
performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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• Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our auditor’s report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.   

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditor’s report is Kimberly J. Payne.  

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Calgary, Canada 
March 21, 2025 



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position  
 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

          

 
 
 
 
 
 

December 31, December 31,

As at Note 2024 2023

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 30,068                 32,258                 
Trade and other receivables 6 6,244                  47,877                 
Current tax asset 21 -                      4,685                  
Risk management asset 25 462                     1,584                  
Prepaid expenses and deposits 4,699                  5,919                  
Total current assets 41,473                 92,323                 

Property, plant and equipment, net 7 306,035               313,461               
Restricted cash 8 8,451                  16,518                 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 3,139                  3,538                  
Total non-current assets 317,625               333,517               

TOTAL ASSETS 359,098               425,840               

LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 9 11,111                 13,287                 
Risk management liability 25 396                     8,405                  
Loans and borrowings 10 -                      4,828                  
Total current liabilities 11,507                 26,520                 

Provisions for decommissioning 11 11,052                 10,760                 
Lease obligation 77                       111                     
Loans and borrowings 10 -                      76,375                 
Deferred tax liabilities 21 20,442                 14,329                 
Total non-current liabilities 31,571                 101,575               

TOTAL LIABILITIES 43,078                 128,095               

EQUITY
Share capital 12 172,476               143,963               
Contributed surplus 13,286                 13,194                 
Retained earnings 130,258               140,588               

TOTAL EQUITY 316,020               297,745               
Commitments and Contingencies 19, 20
Subsequent event 27

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 359,098               425,840               

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

M. Bruce Chernoff Michael Mayder
Chairman of the Board Director



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income 
 
For the years ended December 31 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts) 
 

    

Note 2024 2023

Revenue and power swaps
 Revenue       14 101,482               41,458                 
 Realized gain on power swaps       25 13,131                 1,444                   
 Unrealized gain (loss) on power swaps       25 (1,114)                  1,548                   
Total revenue and power swaps 113,499               44,450                 

Expenses 
 Operating       15 58,657                 38,381                 
 Realized loss on natural gas swaps       25 11,700                 1,002                   
 Unrealized loss (gain) on natural gas swaps       25 (8,001)                  8,369                   
 General and administrative       15 7,528                   6,706                   
 Depreciation and amortization         7 14,563                 9,695                   
Total expenses 84,447                 64,153                 

Operating income (loss) 29,052                 (19,703)                

 Other income, net       16 2,961                   64,528                 
 Asset impairment charge -                      (2,002)                  
 Finance expense, net       17 (3,892)                  (5,421)                  
Income before income taxes 28,121                 37,402                 

 Income tax expense 
 Current income tax       21 62                       125                      
 Deferred income tax       21 6,113                   8,982                   
Total income tax expense 6,175                   9,107                   

Net and comprehensive income 21,946                 28,295                 

Earnings per share       18 
 Basic 0.42                     0.56                     
 Diluted 0.38                     0.49                     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



 

MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except common share data) 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Number of 
common shares 

(thousands) Share capital
Contributed 

surplus Retained earnings Total  

Equity at December 31, 2023               50,593 143,963       13,194       140,588             297,745       

Net income -                   -              -            21,946               21,946         
Repurchase of common shares for cancellation (297)                  (843)             -            (429)                   (1,272)          
Share-based compensation -                   -              1,049         -                    1,049           
Conversion of Convertible Loan Facility into 
common shares (note 10b)

13,084              29,078         -            -                    29,078         

Dividends paid -                   -              -            (31,847)              (31,847)        
Stock options settled in cash -                   -              (488)           (488)             
Stock options settled in common shares 267                   148              (444)           -                    (296)             
Stock options exercised                     46 130              (25)            -                    105              

Equity at December 31, 2024               63,693 172,476       13,286       130,258             316,020       

Equity at December 31, 2022               50,168 143,473       12,831       112,350             268,654       

Net income -                   -              -            28,295               28,295         
Repurchase of common shares for cancellation (33)                   (88)              -            (57)                    (145)             
Share-based compensation -                   -              692            -                    692              
Stock options settled in common shares 210                   8                 (228)           -                    (220)             
Stock options exercised 248                   570              (101)           -                    469              

Equity at December 31, 2023               50,593 143,963       13,194       140,588             297,745       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 
For the years ended December 31 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 

          

Note 2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income 21,946                 28,295                 

Adjustments for items not involving cash or operations:
Depreciation and amortization 7 14,563                 9,695                  
Share-based compensation 13 1,803                  692                     
Unrealized loss (gain) on power swaps 25 1,114                  (1,548)                 
Unrealized loss (gain) on natural gas swaps 25 (8,001)                 8,369                  

   Stock option settlement in common shares (296)                    (220)                    
   Stock option settlement in cash 13 (1,218)                 -                      

Income tax expense 21 6,175                  9,107                  
Income tax recovered (paid) 21 4,623                  (9,603)                 
Gain on sale of wind development project 16 (2,810)                 -                      
Asset impairment charge -                      2,002                  
Loss on disposal of equipment -                      100                     
Finance expense, net 17 3,892                  5,421                  

Funds generated from operating activities before change in non-
cash working capital 41,791                 52,310                 

Change in non-cash working capital 23 42,278                 (28,694)                
Net cash generated from operating activities 84,069                 23,616                 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of loans and borrowings 10 (53,512)                (2,850)                 
Issue costs on loans and borrowings 10 (485)                    -                      
Dividends paid 12 (31,847)                -                      
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 105                     469                     
Repurchase of common shares for cancellation 12 (1,272)                 (145)                    
Interest and bank charges 17 (6,634)                 (8,114)                 
Net cash used in financing activities (93,645)                (10,640)                

Cash flows from investing activities:
Property, plant and equipment additions 7 (7,192)                 (27,421)                
Proceeds on sale of wind development project 16 2,810                  -                      
Proceeds on sale of asset, net of closing costs -                      95                       
Interest income 17 4,436                  2,932                  
Change in non-cash working capital 23 7,248                  (7,701)                 
Net cash generated (used) in investing activities 7,302                  (32,095)                

Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents 17 84                       (1)                        
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,190)                 (19,120)                

32,258                 51,378                 
30,068                 32,258                 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 1 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 

1. Reporting entity 

Maxim Power Corp. is incorporated in the province of Alberta, Canada. Maxim Power Corp., together 
with its subsidiaries ("MAXIM" or the "Corporation") is an independent power producer, which acquires 
or develops, owns and operates power and power related projects in Alberta. The Corporation’s common 
shares (“Common Shares”) trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol "MXG". MAXIM’s 
registered office is Suite 1800, 715 – 5 Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2P 2X6.  

2. Basis of preparation and statement of compliance 

(a) Statement of compliance 

MAXIM prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These consolidated 
financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Corporation on 
March 21, 2025.  

(b) Basis of measurement  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
risk management activities, which are measured at fair value on the statements of financial position. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency  

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional 
currency of the Corporation and its subsidiaries. All financial information presented in Canadian 
dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise noted. 

(d) Use of judgements and estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions, based on its experience, that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

(e) Significant judgements and estimates 

(i) Impairment indicators 

 At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation makes an assessment whether there are 
any indications of impairment of its property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") and intangible 
assets at the lowest level at which there are separately identifiable cash flows. If there are 
indications of impairment, MAXIM performs an impairment test on the asset or the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”).  

The assessment of impairment indicators is based on management’s significant judgement of 
whether there are internal or external factors that would indicate that the CGU and specifically 
the assets within that CGU are impaired. The assessment of the external indicators considers 
future commodity prices. The assessment of internal indicators considers forecasted cashflows. 

The Corporation evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when management has 
determined that events or circumstances warrant such consideration.   

 



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 2 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 

2.   Basis of preparation and statement of compliance (continued) 

(ii) Decommissioning costs  

Decommissioning costs are expected to be incurred at the end of the operating life of the 
facilities. A provision is recognized when there is a present obligation to restore the site, it is 
probable the expenditure will be required, and a reliable estimate of the costs can be 
determined. The ultimate cost to settle these obligations is uncertain due to timing and cost 
estimates that may vary in response to many different factors including changes to relevant legal 
requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques or experience at other facilities. As 
a result, there could be significant adjustments to the provisions established which could affect 
future financial results. Management bases these estimates on its best knowledge, experience 
in similar circumstances and in some cases reports from independent experts. 

Because of the long-term nature of the liabilities, the greatest uncertainty in estimating the     
provision is the costs that will be incurred.  In particular, the Corporation has assumed that each 
site will be restored using technology and materials that are currently available. 

(iii) Useful life and residual value of PP&E 

Useful lives over which costs should be depreciated may be impacted by changes in the 
Corporation’s strategy, process or operations as a result of climate change initiatives. Each 
major component of PP&E is depreciated over its estimated useful life net of residual value. The 
estimated useful lives of the assets are based upon current conditions and management’s 
experience, which take into consideration specific contracts, agreements, condition of the asset, 
technology, production and use of the asset, and regular maintenance programs. The facilities 
are operated within equipment manufacturers’ specifications to realize the expected useful life 
of each asset. Notwithstanding these measures, the useful life of equipment may vary from that 
which is estimated by management.  

Residual value is estimated by management to be the amount that MAXIM would receive from 
disposal of the asset after deducting the estimated costs of disposal if the asset was already of 
the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. Actual amounts received may 
differ from estimated amounts. 

(iv) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The recoverable amount of a CGU or asset is determined based on the higher of its fair value 
less costs of disposal or its value-in-use (the present value of the estimated future cash flows). 
Management is required to make assumptions about future cash flows including future 
commodity prices, expected generation, future operating and development costs, discount 
rates, sustaining capital programs and tax rates. It is possible that future cash flow assumptions 
may change. This may impact the estimated fair value of the associated asset and may require 
a material adjustment to the carrying value of the asset. 

 

 

 

 

 



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 3 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 

3.   Material accounting policies 

The material accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have 
been applied consistently for all periods presented and are set out below. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

The financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries 
are entities which the Corporation controls by having the power to govern the entity’s financial and 
operating policies. The Corporation consolidates all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. All intercompany balances, transactions and 
unrealized gains and losses from intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation.  

The Consolidated Financial Statements of MAXIM include the following entities: 

 

(b)  Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying value of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there are any indicators of impairment. MAXIM 
performs an impairment test on the CGU or asset if there are indicators of impairment present. 

The impairment test compares the recoverable amount of the CGU or asset to its carrying amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU or asset’s value in use (present value of the 
estimated future cash flows) and its estimated fair value less costs to sell. Management is required 
to make assumptions about future cash flows including production, fuel costs, operating expenses, 
power prices and capital programs. It is possible that future cash flow assumptions may change. 
This may impact the estimated fair value of the associated asset and may require a material 
adjustment to the carrying value of the asset including intangible assets.  

The Corporation evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when management has made 
the judgment that events or circumstances warrant such consideration. 

(c) Financial instruments 

(i) Recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Corporation becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Corporation 
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 
derecognized when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

 

2024 2023
Milner Power Limited Partnership ("MPLP") Canada 100 100
Milner Power II Limited Partnership Canada 100 100
Prairie Lights Power Limited Partnership Canada 100 100
Deerland Power Limited Partnership Canada 100 100
Summit Coal Limited Partnership Canada 100 100

Country of 
Incorporation

Ownership Interest %



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 4 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 

3.   Material accounting policies (continued) 

(ii) Measurement and classification  

All financial instruments, including all derivatives, are measured at fair value or amortized cost 
upon initial recognition and are classified into one of the following three categories: financial 
assets and liabilities at amortized cost, fair value through profit or loss and fair value through 
other comprehensive income. The Corporation does not have any instruments classified as fair 
value through other comprehensive income. 

(iii) Financial assets at amortized cost 

 A financial asset is classified in this category if it is held within a business model whose objective 
is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments from principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in the statement of income. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognized in the statement of income.  

The Corporation’s financial assets at amortized cost are comprised of trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents.  

(iv) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset is classified in this category if it does not meet the requirements of amortized 
cost, including derivative assets. Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially 
and subsequently at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, 
are recognized in the statement of income or loss.  

(v) Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

Financial liabilities include trade payables, lease obligation, and loans and borrowings, are 
recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

    (vi)    Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

(vii) Impairment of financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Corporation assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized 
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have 
a detrimental impact on the estimate future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. For 
trade receivables the Corporation applies the simplified approach, which requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the financial assets. 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions. Cash deposits held as collateral to various counterparty agreements to secure 
credit are recorded separately as non-current restricted cash. 



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 5 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 

3.   Material accounting policies (continued) 

 (e)   PP&E 

The Corporation records PP&E at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost 
includes expenditures to purchase and construct assets, and other costs associated with purchasing 
and preparing assets for their intended use.  The costs associated with construction include material, 
labor, interest, and other direct costs required to bring the assets to their intended use. 

Cost also includes the present value of an initial estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing 
the item and restoring the site on which it is located to its original state. 

MAXIM separates PP&E into identifiable components with different useful lives for depreciation 
purposes. Depreciation is based on the cost of the asset less its residual value. Depreciation of a 
component commences when the asset is first available for use and ceases when the asset is 
classified as held for sale or when the asset is derecognized.  

The following rates are used in the computation of depreciation expense in the period: 

Generating facilities Straight-line from 2 to 21 years 
Equipment 20 - 30% declining balance or straight-line  

from 2 to 21 years 

Assets under construction are projects undertaken by the Corporation where the asset is not yet 
available for use. Capitalization of costs associated with these projects commences once technical 
feasibility is established.  If the project is subsequently abandoned, all costs are expensed in the 
period.   

(f) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use. 

      (g) Employee benefits 

(i) Restricted share units 

The Corporation records a compensation cost for all restricted share units (“RSU”) granted to 
employees over the vesting period of the RSU based on the fair value of the RSU at grant date. 
Each tranche in an award is considered a separate award with its own vesting period and grant 
date fair value. The fair values of the amounts payable, which are settled in cash, are recognized 
as expenses with corresponding increases in the liabilities over the period that the employees 
unconditionally become entitled to payments. The fair value of each grant is measured at the 
closing share price of MAXIM’s Common Shares. The liability is remeasured to fair value at each 
reporting date and at the settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are 
recognized in income or loss. 

(ii) Share-based compensation 

The Corporation records a compensation cost for all stock options granted to employees, 
directors or officers over the vesting period of the options based on the fair value of the option 
at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation expense is 
recognized over the options vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to contributed 
surplus.  



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 6 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 

3.   Material accounting policies (continued) 

The number of awards expected to vest is reviewed each period, with the effect of any change 
being recognized immediately. Consideration paid by employees, directors or officers upon 
exercise of the stock options and the amount previously recognized in contributed surplus are 
recorded as an increase to share capital. 

(h)   Provisions 

(i) Decommissioning liabilities 

The Corporation has an obligation to restore certain project sites to an acceptable level at the 
end of each project’s respective life.  Decommissioning costs are provided for at the present 
value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows and are recognized 
as part of the cost of that particular asset. The estimated cash flows for decommissioning costs 
are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risk-free rate specific to the 
decommissioning liability. The unwinding of the discount due to the passage of time is recorded 
as an increase to the provision for decommissioning liabilities with the associated expense 
recognized in the statements of income as a finance cost.  When the Corporation carries out its 
obligation to restore a site, incurred decommissioning costs will be recorded as a reduction to 
the decommissioning liability. The estimated future costs of decommissioning are reviewed 
periodically and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Changes in the estimated future 
costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset and the 
liability. 

(ii) Other provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Where the Corporation expects some 
or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but 
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the statements of profit or loss net of any reimbursement. Non-current provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows using a risk-free rate. Provisions 
are not recognized for future losses. 

      (i) Revenue recognition 

Revenue from the sale of electricity is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract 
with the customer. MAXIM recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the electricity to the 
customer. This is considered to occur when electricity is physically transferred to the customer.  

      (j) Finance income and finance expense 

Finance income is comprised of interest income on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues in the statements of income, using the effective interest 
method. 

Finance expense is comprised of interest expense on borrowings, finance costs on letters of credit, 
amortization of deferred financing costs, and unwinding of the discount on provisions. 
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3.   Material accounting policies (continued) 

      (k) Income taxes 

Income taxes are comprised of current and deferred taxes. Current tax and deferred tax are 
recognized in the statements of income except to the extent that they relate to a business 
combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.   

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the carrying amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for: 

(i) Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

(ii) Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that 
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
these deductions can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

      (l) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss for the period attributable 
to shareholders of the Corporation by the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding 
during the period. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated in the same manner as basic earnings per share, except 
that the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding is adjusted for dilutive 
instruments and the after tax impact of the finance expense relating to the Convertible Loan Facility 
(“Convertible Loan”) . 

The number of Comon Shares included with respect to options, warrants and similar instruments is 
computed using the treasury stock method. The Corporation’s potentially dilutive Common Shares 
are comprised of stock options granted to employees. 

      (m)  Dividends  

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are discretionary and payable when the 
dividends have been approved by the Board of Directors. Dividends on Common Shares are 
recognized within equity. 
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3.   Material accounting policies (continued) 

     (n)    Insurance proceeds 

Insurance proceeds are recognized in other income when it is virtually certain that the Corporation 
will receive the funds under the terms and conditions of the insurance policy. This is achieved 
through confirmation of insurance coverage for amounts claimed. 

4.   Future accounting changes  

       IFRS 18 – Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 

On April 9, 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18 – Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements which 
introduces new requirements for comparability in the statement of profit or loss, performance measures 
and grouping of information in the financial statements. IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 – Presentation of 
Financial Statements and will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2027, with early application permitted. Management is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 18 on the 
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. 

5.   Determination of fair value  

A number of the Corporation’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, 
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further 
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to 
that asset or liability. 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, 
lease obligation, and loans and borrowings 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables, trade and 
other payables, and loans and borrowings are estimated as the present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. As at December 31, 2024, and 2023, 
the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables and trade 
and other payables approximated their carrying value due to their short term to maturity.  

 (b)  Commodity swaps 

The fair value of swaps is based on the amount that would be paid or received to settle the contracts 
at period end. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take 
account of the credit risk of the Corporation and counterparty when appropriate. 

(c) Share-based payment transactions 

The fair value of the employee share options are measured using the Black-Scholes model. 
Measurement inputs include the share price on the measurement date, the exercise price of the 
instrument, expected volatility, expected term of the instrument, expected dividends, and the risk-
free interest rate. Assumptions regarding employee turnover, and related forfeitures, are also 
considered in determining fair value.  
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6.  Trade and other receivables 

        

(a) Realized risk management receivable of $1,860 is unsettled realized gains on power commodity 
swap transactions as at December 31, 2024 (2023 - $1,430).       

7.  Property, plant and equipment, net 

  

(a) Asset impairment charge 

During 2023, the Corporation was notified by the Alberta Utilities Commission that the application for 
a time extension of the 86 MW cogeneration power plant located at the Milner site was denied. As a 
result, the Corporation had terminated the project and written off the full value of assets under 
construction totaling $2,002 and recognized the balance as an asset impairment charge.  

 

 

December 31, December 31, 
2024 2023

Trade receivables 4,384                28,371               
Insurance receivable -                    18,031               
Other receivables -                    45                     
Realized risk management receivable (a) 1,860                1,430                
Total trade and other receivables 6,244                47,877               

Generating 
Facilities and 

Equipment
Right-of-use 

Asset
Assets under 
Construction Total     

Cost

Balance, December 31, 2022 241,844       202            147,335       389,381      

  Additions 531              -                26,890         27,421       
  Capitalized interest -                  -                1,473           1,473         
  Assets in-service 164,886       -                (164,886)      -                
  Impairment (a) -                  -                (2,002)          (2,002)        
  Disposal of equipment (195)            -                -                  (195)           
  Revisions to decommissioning provisions (89)              -                -                  (89)             
Balance, December 31, 2023 406,977       202            8,810           415,989      

  Additions 2,018           -                5,174           7,192         
  Assets in-service 370              -                (370)             -                
  Revisions to decommissioning provisions (55)              -                -                  (55)             
Balance, December 31, 2024 409,310       202            13,614         423,126      

Accumulated depreciation
Balance, December 31, 2022 92,778         55              -                  92,833       

  Depreciation 9,665           30              -                  9,695         
Balance, December 31, 2023 102,443       85              -                  102,528      

.
  Depreciation 14,533         30              -                  14,563       
Balance, December 31, 2024 116,976       115            -                  117,091      

Property, plant and equipment, net
December 31, 2023 304,534       117            8,810           313,461      
December 31, 2024 292,334       87              13,614         306,035      
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8.  Restricted cash 

      

(a) On November 7, 2024, the Corporation amended the Senior Credit Facility to release $10,122 of 
restricted cash previously held for end of life decommissioning, remediation and reclamation of the 
Milner Site. Upon release the $10,122 was transferred to cash and cash equivalents. 

9.  Trade and other payables 

 

(a) Realized risk management liability of $185 are unsettled realized losses on gas commodity swap 
transactions as at December 31, 2024 (2023 - $787).       

10.  Loans and borrowings 

      

     

 

 

 

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

Cash collaterized letters of credit                         8,451                         6,396 

Cash collateral (a)                              -                         10,122 

Total restricted cash                         8,451                       16,518 

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Trade payables                  2,655                  3,328 
Accrued liabilities and other payables                  8,271                  9,172 
Realized risk management liability (a)                     185                     787 
Total trade and other payables                 11,111                 13,287 

Bank Term 

Facility #1(1) 

Fixed Rate 
Constuction 

Facility(1) 

Convertible 

Loan Facility(1)

Deferred 
Financing 

Costs Total

Balance, December 31, 2022 26,362           30,000           29,438           (3,128)            82,672          
Repayment of loans and borrowings (2,850)            -                 -                -                (2,850)           
Amortization -                 -                 -                1,381             1,381            
Balance, December 31, 2023 23,512           30,000           29,438           (1,747)            81,203          
Less: current portion, net of deferred financing costs (4,828)           
Balance December 31, 2023, non-current portion, net of deferred financing costs 76,375          
(1) Excluding def erred f inancings costs.

Senior Credit Facility

Bank Term 

Facility #1(1) 

Fixed Rate 

Term Facility(1) 

Convertible 

Loan Facility(1)

Deferred 
Financing 

Costs Total

Balance, December 31, 2023(1) 23,512           30,000           29,438           (1,747)            81,203          
Repayment of loans and borrowings (2,138)            (1,500)            -                -                (3,638)           
Voluntary repayment of loans and borrowings (a)(ii) (21,374)          (28,500)          -                -                (49,874)         
Conversion of Convertible Loan (b) -                 -                 (29,438)          -                (29,438)         
Amortization and extinguishment -                 -                 -                1,747             1,747            
Balance, December 31, 2024 -                 -                 -                -                -               
(1) Excluding def erred f inancings costs.

Senior Credit Facility
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10.  Loans and borrowings (continued) 

     (a)  Senior Credit Facilities 

The Senior Credit Facilities consist of facilities that provide senior debt financing to support financing 
requirements of the existing operations, letters of credit and hedging. The Senior Credit Facilities are 
secured by the assets of the Corporation. The Senior Credit Facilities mature on June 30, 2026.   

On October 17, 2024, the Corporation voluntarily repaid the outstanding principal on both the Bank 
Term Facility #1 and the Fixed Rate Term Facility, for a total principal repayment of $49,874. In 
addition, on November 7, 2024, MAXIM amended its Senior Credit Facility, to allow for the following:   

- Increase and merge the combined availability of Revolver Facility #1 and Letter of Credit 
Facility #1 from $19,100 to $25,000;   

- Restricted cash of $10,122 released for general use. (note 8a);  

- The distribution of a one-time special dividend (the “Special Dividend”) of $0.50 per 
Common Share; and  

- Allowance for distributions, in the form of dividends or share repurchases, up to $20,000 
per calendar year, subject to terms and conditions of the Senior Credit Facility.  

Amounts available under the Senior Credit Facilities are as follows: 

                  Revolver Facility #1 

The $25,000 Revolver Facility #1 is available for general corporate purposes. The Corporation 
posted cash collateralized letters of credit of $6,301 under this facility and deposited cash of the 
same amount into a restricted bank account maintained by the bank. As at December 31, 2024, 
the availability of this facility is $18,699. The Corporation can elect to remove the $6,301 cash 
collateralized letters of credit, in exchange for a higher margin fee, however the availability of 
the facility is reduced by this amount regardless of whether the letters of credit are cash 
collateralized or not. The Revolver Facility #1 bears interest at the Canadian overnight repo rate 
average or Canadian prime rate, plus applicable margins.  

The remaining facilities of the Senior Credit Facility are extinguished:  

Bank Term Facility #1 was fully repaid on October 17, 2024 with a final payment of $21,374. No 
additional amounts are available under this facility and it is fully extinguished. Fixed Rate Term 
Facility was fully repaid on October 17, 2024 with a final payment of $28,500. No additional 
amounts are available under this facility and it is fully extinguished. Upon the repayment of these 
facilities, the unamortized deferred financing costs relating to these facilities of $584 were fully 
amortized. 

Bank Construction Facility was an undrawn $27,400 facility available for the construction of the 
combined cycle gas turbine of Milner 2 (“M2”). This facility is no longer available and was fully 
extinguished following the satisfaction of certain terms and conditions in the Senior Credit 
Facility in the second quarter of 2024.  

Revolver Facility #2 was a $5,000 facility, that is no longer available and fully extinguished as it 
was merged with Revolver Facility #1 in the second quarter of 2024. 

Letter of Credit Facility #1 was a $4,100 facility and is no longer available as it was extinguished 
following the amendment on November 7, 2024. 
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10.  Loans and borrowings (continued) 

      Financial Debt Covenants 

Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2024, and as a result of the amendment on November 

7, 2024, MAXIM is no longer required to maintain the debt service coverage ratio or the debt 

to adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted 

EBITDA”) ratio.  

Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2024, MAXIM is required to maintain a net debt to 

Adjusted EBITDA ratio of not greater than 3.00:1.00. As at December 31, 2024, MAXIM’s net 

debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio is (0.78) and is therefore in compliance. 

Commencing in the first quarter of 2025, MAXIM is required to maintain an interest coverage 

ratio of not less than 5.00:1.00 on a rolling four quarter basis.  

The interest coverage ratio will be annualized beginning in the first quarter of 2025 utilizing 

the rolling four quarter Adjusted EBITDA and annualized interest expense starting January 

1, 2025. Once four full fiscal financial quarters have occurred, the annualized interest 

expense will be replaced with the rolling four quarter interest expense. 

MAXIM shall ensure that, as at the end of each financial quarter, the tangible assets of 

MAXIM, Milner Power II LP, Milner Power LP, and Prairie Lights Power LP, are not less than 

the lesser of: (a) 95% of consolidated tangible assets; and (b) consolidated tangible assets 

(less any consolidated tangible assets attributed to Summit Coal Inc. and Summit Coal LP).  

In addition, MAXIM is subject to customary non-financial covenants. As at December 31, 

2024, MAXIM is in compliance with all applicable debt covenants. 

(b) Convertible Loan Facility  

 On November 7, 2024, MAXIM received a notice of conversion from the lenders under the 

Convertible Loan to convert amounts owing thereunder, being $29,438 (2023 - $29,438), into 

Common Shares. As a result, the lenders received 13,083,735 Common Shares based on a 

conversion price of $2.25 per Common Share. As a result of the conversion, the carrying value 

of $29,078 was transferred to equity which represents $29,438 of debt principal, net of $360 of 

unamortized deferred financing costs. In addition, MAXIM and the lenders under the Convertible 

Loan mutually agreed to terminate the facility and as a result, the facility was extinguished.  

 The Convertible Loan was provided by two significant shareholders of the Corporation, one of 

whom is the Chair of the Board and the other who is Vice Chair of the Board. During 2024, total 

interest and fees paid under this facility was $2,839 (December 31, 2023 – $3,908). 

(c)  Letter of Credit Facility #2  

 The Letter of Credit Facility #2 is a facility that requires full cash collateralization of letters of credit 

on a non-revolving basis. As at December 31, 2024, the Corporation has $2,150 (December 31, 

2023 - $2,150) in cash collateralized letters of credit. Cash of the same amount was deposited 

into a restricted bank account maintained by the bank. There are no financial covenants or funds 

available to be drawn under this credit facility. 
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10.  Loans and borrowings (continued) 

(d)  Issuance costs on loans and borrowings  

 During 2024, a total of $485 of transactions costs were incurred in relation to the amendment 

and restatement of the Senior Credit Facilities. These transaction costs will be amortized to the 

maturity of the Senior Credit Facilities on June 30, 2026. 

11.  Provision for decommissioning   

The Corporation’s provisions are comprised of decommissioning liabilities that relate to the retirement 
of its electrical generating facilities. The decommissioning liabilities have been discounted at the risk-
free rate, which was 3.3% (December 31, 2023 – 3%) based on the timeframe of when the liability will 
be settled and inflation rates, which was 1.8% (December 31, 2023 – 1.6%).   

The Corporation is required to re-measure the provision at each reporting period in order to reflect 
expected cost, timing and discount rates in effect at that time. The total undiscounted inflation adjusted 
amounts of estimated obligations are approximately $21,506 (December 31, 2023 - $20,906) and are 
expected to be incurred in seven to twenty one years from the date of these consolidated financial 
statements.  

  

12.  Share capital 

During 2024, the Corporation purchased and cancelled 296,640 (2023 – 33,339) Common Shares 
under the normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) program at a cost of $1,272 (2023 - $145). Common Shares 
purchased were recognized as a $843 (2023 - $88) reduction to share capital which is equal to the 
weighted average carrying value of Common Shares. The difference between the aggregate purchase 
price and the average carrying value of the Common Shares of $429 (2023 - $57) was recorded as a 
decrease in retained earnings. 

The Corporation is authorized to issue the following classes and number of shares: 

(i) an unlimited number of Common Shares without nominal or par value 

(ii) an unlimited number of preferred shares 

All shares rank equally with regard to the Corporation’s equity and shall be entitled to one vote per   
share at the meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation. The holders of the Common Shares are 
entitled to receive equally any dividends declared by the Corporation. As at December 31, 2024 and 
2023, there are nil preferred shares outstanding. 

 

 

 

Balance, December 31, 2022 10,511     

Accretion 330         
Changes in estimate (81)          

Balance, December 31, 2023 10,760     

Accretion 347         
Changes in estimate (55)          

Balance, December 31, 2024 11,052     
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12.  Share capital (continued) 

    

(a) Included in the share options exercised in 2024 were 266,821 Common Shares (2023 – 210,461 
Common Shares) issued as a result of in-the-money options exercised through a cashless put right, 
which allows option holders to exchange the option value for Common Shares. 

(b) Special Dividend 

On November 7, 2024, MAXIM’s Board of Directors approved the declaration and distribution of a 
Special Dividend of $0.50 per Common Shares. The Special Dividend of $31,847 was paid in cash 
on November 29, 2024. 

13.  Share-based compensation 

The Corporation has an employee stock option plan under which employees, directors and key 
consultants are eligible to receive grants.  

Stock options granted under the plan vest over a three year period in equal amounts. The grantee has 
the right to exercise the vested stock options within one year of vesting. The maximum number of 
outstanding stock options under the plan is limited to 10% of the number of Common Shares 
outstanding.  The Corporation’s Board of Directors determines the number of stock options to be 
granted, and sets the exercise price based on the market value at the time of granting. Stock options 
issued and outstanding are as follows: 

  

During 2024, the Corporation recorded non-cash share-based expense of $1,803 (December 31, 2023 - 
$692) of which $754 (2023 - $nil) relates to the settlement of cash and Common Shares in excess of the 
estimated fair value of the options from the date of grant. 

Number of
Shares $

Common Shares of MAXIM
Common Shares, December 31, 2022 50,167,850      143,473            

Common Shares purchased and cancelled under NCIB (33,339)           (88)                   
Share options exercised and settled for Common Shares (a) 458,627          578                  

Common Shares, December 31, 2023 50,593,138      143,963            
Common Shares purchased and cancelled under NCIB (296,640)         (843)                 
Share options exercised and settled for Common Shares (a) 312,796          278                  
Conversion of Convertible Loan Facility (note 10)  13,083,735      29,078             

Common Shares, December 31, 2024 63,693,029      172,476            

Weighted Weighted
average average

Number exercise Number exercise
of options price of options price

Outstanding, beginning of year 3,046,782         3.54$                  2,631,949            2.77$                  

Exercised (865,646)           2.62                    (787,317)                                  2.01 
Settled for cash (a) (668,987)           3.51                    -                                                -   
Granted (b) 896,479            4.40                    1,202,150            4.23                    

Outstanding, end of year 2,408,628         4.20$                  3,046,782            3.54$                  

Exercisable 366,334            3.81$                  903,146               2.71$                  

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023
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13.  Share based compensation (continued) 

(a) During 2024, the Corporation allowed employees a one time opportunity to exercise their vested 
options for cash. In total 668,987 options were settled in cash for $1,218. 

(b) During 2024 and 2023, the Corporation granted options to certain employees and directors. 
The fair value of each option granted is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with weighted average assumptions for the grant as follows: 

 
Expected volatility was calculated by using daily volatility of the historical closing value of the 
Corporation’s stock, using the date of the grant as the starting point of the retrospective data 
capture.  

(c) As at December 31, 2024, the range of exercise prices was $3.00 - $4.88 (December 31, 2023 
- $2.01 to $4.20) and the weighted average remaining contractual life was 1.86 years 
(December 31, 2023 – 1.67 years).  

14.  Revenue 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers consists of revenue generated from the sale of electricity to the 
Corporation’s sole customer. MAXIM recognizes revenue when the performance obligation is satisfied, 
which is the moment electricity is generated and delivered to the grid. The amount of revenue recognized 
is based on the agreed transaction price which is the average spot price determined on an hourly basis 
for the volume of generation produced. Collection occurs the following month on the twentieth business 
day. 

15.  Operating, general and administrative expenses by nature 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2024 2023
Fair value of each option ($)        1.06        1.01 
Share price at grant date ($)        4.40        4.23 
Exercise price ($)        4.40        4.23 
Risk-free interest rate (%)        3.33        3.51 
Expected life (years)        2.00        2.00 
Expected volatility (%)      38.63      37.70 

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Revenue from contracts with customers 101,482            41,458              

December 31,  
2024

December 31,  
2023

Fuel costs 23,802                13,570                
Operating and maintenance 30,698                20,865                
Wages and employee benefits 11,685                10,652                
Total operating and general and administrative expenses 66,185                45,087                



MAXIM POWER CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 16 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 

16.  Other income, net  

 

(a) Insurance claims  

During 2023, the income from business interruption claims of $53,181 and property insurance claims 
of $17,434, related to the air inlet filter house non-injury fire insurance claim.  

(b) Demolition, incidental and investigation costs  

During 2023, the Corporation incurred $5,973 in relation to demolition, incidental and investigation 
costs related to the air inlet filter house non-injury fire incident.     

(c) The Corporation closed the sale of a wind development project on June 20, 2018. Under the sales 
agreement, the Corporation is entitled to further compensation upon the date of commercial 
operation. On June 28, 2024, the wind development project achieved commercial operations and 
the Corporation recognized $2,810 of other income and other receivables. On July 5, 2024, the 
Corporation collected the total receivable amount of $2,810. 

17.  Finance expense, net 

 

18.  Earnings per share 

  

 

 

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Business interruption insurance claim (a) -                       53,181              
Property insurance claim (a) -                       17,434              
Demolition, incidental and investigation costs (b) -                       (5,973)               
Loss on disposal of equipment -                       (100)                  
Other income (loss) (c) 2,961                (14)                   
Total other income, net 2,961                64,528              

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Interest expense and bank charges 6,634                    6,641                    
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,431                    1,381                    
Accretion of provisions 347                       330                       
Foreign exchange loss (gain) (84)                        1                          
Finance expense 8,328                    8,353                    
Interest income (4,436)                   (2,932)                   
Total finance expense, net 3,892                    5,421                    

  December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Weighted average number of common shares (basic) (a) 52,534,967        50,419,484        
Effect of convertible loan facility (a) 11,148,059        13,083,735        
Effect of stock options 141,421             580,020             

Weighted average number of common shares (diluted) 63,824,447        64,083,239        
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18.  Earnings per share (continued) 

  
  

 

(a) Upon conversion of the Convertible Loan, 13,083,735 Common Shares were issued and of this 
amount, 1,935,676 and 11,148,059 Common Shares have been allocated to basic and diluted 
earnings per share, respectively. The allocation to the basic number of Common Shares represents 
the weighted average number of ordinary Common Shares after conversion of the Convertible Loan 
and the allocation to the diluted number of Common Shares represents the weighted average 
number of potential ordinary Common Shares before conversion of the Convertible Loan. 

19.  Commitments 

The Corporation has entered into a natural gas transportation service agreement to deliver natural gas 
to M2 and contracts to purchase emission credits. The total remaining commitment from these contracts 
as at December 31, 2024 is $15,900 as follows: 

   

20.  Contingencies 

(a) Contingent liabilities 

The Corporation operates in a regulatory and commercial environment that exposes it to regulatory, 
contractual and litigation risks. As a result, the Corporation is subject to certain disputes and legal 
proceedings, including litigation, arbitration, and regulatory investigations. Such cases are subject 
to many uncertainties, and the outcomes are often difficult to predict, including the impact on 
operations or on the financial statements, particularly in the earlier stages of a case. The Corporation 
makes provisions for cases brought against it when, in the opinion of management after seeking 
legal advice, it is probable that a liability exists, and the amount can be reliably estimated. 
Management believes that these contingencies, individually or in aggregate, are not expected to 
result in a liability that would have a material adverse effect on the Corporation.   

 

 

  December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Net income (basic) 21,946               28,295               
Finance expense on the convertible loan facility, net of tax 2,389                3,417                
Net income (diluted) 24,335               31,712               

  December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Earnings per share:
Basic 0.42                  0.56                  
Diluted 0.38                  0.49                  

2025                                                                6,023 
2026                                                                3,597 
2027                                                                3,012 
2028                                                                1,843 
Thereafter                                                                1,425 

                                                              15,900 
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20.  Contingencies (continued) 

(b) Contingent assets 

During 2024, the Corporation filed a statement of claim for compensation against third parties in 
relation to the non-injury fire on September 30, 2022, which caused damage to M2’s air inlet filter 
house. As at December 31, 2024, the precise amount and timing of compensation from these claims, 
if any, cannot be determined, and therefore no amount has been reflected in these consolidated 
financial statements. 

21.   Income taxes 

(a) Tax expense recognized in statements of income  

 

(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

Income tax expense varies from the amount that would be computed by applying the expected basic 
federal and provincial income tax rates for Canada at December 31, 2024 of 23% (December 31, 
2023 – 23%) to income before income taxes. A reconciliation of this difference is presented below. 

A reconciliation of the differences is as follows: 

  

 

 

          December 31,          December 31,
2024 2023

Current tax expense 62                     125                   

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 6,820                 8,645                 
Changes in tax rates 139                   -                    
Conversion of Convertible Loan Facility (83)                    -                    
Adjustment in respect of prior years 20                     337                   
Change in recognized deductible temporary differences (783)                  -                    

6,113                 8,982                 

Total tax expense 6,175                 9,107                 

          December 31,          December 31,
2024 2023

Net income before tax 28,121       37,402      
Statutory tax rate 23% 23%
Computed income taxes 6,468         8,602        
Increase (decrease) in taxes:
   Change in recognized deductible temporary differences 139            -           
   Conversion of Convertible Loan Facility (83)             -           
   Changes in tax rates 139            -           

Non-deductible expenses, net 412            168          
Recognition in use of capital losses (920)           -           
Adjustments in respect of prior years 20              337          

Total tax expense 6,175         9,107        
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21.  Income taxes (continued) 

(c) Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the 
realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at December 31, 
2024, $108,392 (December 31, 2023 - $108,392) of the tax loss carry-forwards pools are 
unrecognized. These assets are unrecognized primarily due to uncertainty in the Corporation's 
ability to utilize the asset. 

(d)   Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

  

(e)   Movement in deferred tax assets (liabilities) during the year: 

 

22.  Related party transactions 

Compensation of key management personnel: 

 

Key management personnel include the Corporation’s Directors and Named Executive Officers.  

Other than the Corporation’s subordinated Convertible Loan (note 10b), there were no other related 
party transactions during 2024 or 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

December 31, 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Non-capital loss carry forwards 451        1,481    -              -           451              1,481    
Capital assets -             -           (23,624)    (19,708)  (23,624)        (19,708) 
Other 2,731      3,898    -          -           2,731           3,898    
Net tax liabilities 3,182      5,379    (23,624)    (19,708)  (20,442)        (14,329) 

        Assets       Liabilities      Net

At December 31, 2022 -         (7,595)    2,248   (5,347)    
Credited (charged) to income 1,481      (12,113)  1,650   (8,982)    
At December 31, 2023 1,481      (19,708)  3,898   (14,329)  
Credited (charged) to income (1,030)     (3,916)    (1,167)  (6,113)    
At December 31, 2024 451        (23,624)  2,731   (20,442)  

Total
Net 

Operating 
Capital     
Assets Other

   December 31,  
2024

   December 31,  
2023

Short-term employee benefits, including wages and benefits 2,113                 2,277                
Share-based compensation 740                    503                   
Total 2,853                 2,780                
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23.  Change in non-cash working capital 

   

24.  Financial risk management  

The Corporation has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 

- credit risk 

- liquidity risk 

- foreign currency exchange risk 

- interest rate risk 

- commodity price risk  

This note presents information about the Corporation’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 
Corporation’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the 
Corporation’s management of capital. 

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of MAXIM’s risk 
management framework.  The Board has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which 
is responsible for developing and monitoring MAXIM’s compliance with risk management policies and 
procedures.  The committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

MAXIM’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by MAXIM, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and MAXIM’s 
activities. MAXIM, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a 
disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and 
obligations. 

Risk management assets recognized on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are 
attributable to the following: 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the possibility that a counterparty that owes money to the Corporation is 
unable or unwilling to fulfill their obligations.  The extent of the risk depends on the credit quality of 
the counterparty to which the Corporation provides goods or services. 

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Operating activities
  Trade and other receivables 41,633                 (32,768)                
  Prepaid expenses and deposits 2,058                   (2,701)                  
  Trade and other payables (1,413)                  6,775                   

42,278                 (28,694)                

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Investing activities
  Trade and other payables (819)                    (3,501)                  
  Restricted cash 8,067                   (4,200)                  

7,248                   (7,701)                  
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24.  Financial risk management (continued) 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was as follows: 

 

Trade and other receivables are predominantly with entities formed by governments for the purpose 
of facilitating commerce in the power and utility sector or a banking counterparty with a Standard & 
Poor's rating discussed below. For trade and other receivables and risk management assets from 
third parties and deposits to vendors who are not government sponsored entities, the Corporation 
utilizes regular credit monitoring processes to mitigate credit risk. MAXIM does not expect any losses 
from trade and other receivables and risk management assets. 

As at December 31, 2024, the Corporation had no past due receivables. 

 Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are held with banking counterparties, which are rated 
AA and AA-, based on rating agency Standard & Poor’s.  

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that MAXIM will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  
MAXIM’s approach to managing liquidity is through regular monitoring of cash requirements by 
preparing balance of year and long-term cash flow analyses. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 
payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements: 

   

 

(1) Trade and other payables include MAXIM’s lease obligation. Lease obligation matures in October 2027. 

 

 

 December 31,
2024

 December 31, 
2023

Cash and cash equivalents                30,068              32,258 
Restricted cash (note 8)                  8,451              16,518 
Risk management assets                     462                1,584 
Trade and other receivables                  6,244              47,877 
Total                45,225              98,237 

December 31, 2024
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

6 months 
or less

6 to 12 
months

2 to 3 
years

4 to 5 
years

Non-derivative financial 
instruments

    Trade and other payables (1) 11,188           11,188       11,091     20                 50              27           

11,188           11,188       11,091     20                 50              27           

December 31, 2023
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

6 months 
or less

6 to 12 
months

2 to 3 years
4 to 5 
years

Non-derivative financial 
instruments

    Trade and other payables (1) 13,398           13,398       13,307     20                 20                27           

Loans and borrowings 81,203           99,771       5,031                   7,951         86,789 -         

94,601           113,169     18,338     7,971           86,809        27           
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 

(c)  Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and commodity price risks will affect the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control risk exposures, 
while optimizing cash flows to the Corporation. 

(i)   Foreign currency exchange risk 

The Corporation is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk to the extent that expenses and 
liabilities are denominated in currencies that differ from the functional currency of the respective 
entity within the consolidated group.  The Corporation has not hedged the exposure related to 
capital expenditures, revenues and expenses. At December 31, 2024, the Corporation is 
exposed to foreign currency exchange risk relating to accounts payable denominated in United 
States dollars. A strengthening (weakening) of the Canadian dollar by 10% against the United 
States dollar for the year ended December 31, 2024 would have decreased (increased) 
accounts payable by $50 (2023 - $63) as a result of these exposures. 

(ii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk of change in the borrowing and investing rates of the Corporation. 
MAXIM partially mitigates its interest rate risk by maintaining fixed rate loans and borrowings 
and periodically entering into interest rate swap agreements to change floating rate debt to fixed 
rate debt. MAXIM’s $25,000 Revolver Facility #1 is at variable rates and is the Corporation’s 
only credit facility with availability. As at December 31, 2024 no amounts are drawn on this 
facility and therefore MAXIM’s interest rate risk is currently nil until the facility is drawn upon. 

(iii) Commodity price risk 

 Commodity price risk is the risk of price volatility of commodity prices, such as electricity and 
natural gas. The Corporation periodically reduces its exposure to commodity price risk by 
entering fixed floating swaps for the price of electricity and natural gas in Alberta. Based on the 
unsettled power commodity swaps for the year ended December 31, 2024, an appreciation in 
electricity prices in the Alberta power market by $1 per MWh would have decreased risk 
management assets relating to unsettled power commodity swaps by $287 (2023 - $168). A 
weakening of electricity prices by this amount would have the opposite effect on risk 
management assets relating to unsettled power commodity swaps. Based on the unsettled 
natural gas commodity swaps for the year ended December 31, 2024, an appreciation in natural 
gas prices in the Alberta natural gas commodity market by $0.10 per GJ would have decreased 
the risk management liability related to natural gas commodity swaps by $431 (2023 - $807). A 
weakening of natural gas prices by this amount would have the opposite effect on risk 
management liability related to natural gas commodity swaps. 
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25.  Fair value   

 The fair value measurement of a financial instrument or derivative contract is included in one of three 
levels as follows: 

- Level I: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

- Level II: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level I that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly 

- Level III: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs) 

The Corporation is required to recognize and disclose the fair value of financial assets and liabilities. 
The Corporation’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not risk management swaps or options 
or loans and borrowings are all classified as Level I under the fair value hierarchy as they are based on 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments. 

The fair value of the loans and borrowings are classified as Level II under the fair value hierarchy as the 
fair values are based on observable market data.  

(a) Commodity risk management swaps  

The fair values of the power and natural gas commodity swaps are classified as Level II under the 
fair value hierarchy as the fair values are based on observable market data. The Corporation 
determined the fair value of the swaps by applying the market approach using market settled forward 
prices as reported by the Natural Gas Exchange for forward contracts of comparable term at the 
reporting date.  

            Realized gain on commodity swaps 

 

Unrealized loss (gain) on commodity swaps 

 

Loss (gain) on commodity swaps 

 

 

 

 

 

December 31, December 31, 
2024 2023

Realized gain on power swaps (13,131)            (1,444)              
Realized loss on natural gas swaps 11,700             1,002               

Total realized gain on commodity swaps (1,431)              (442)                 

December 31, December 31, 
2024 2023

Unrealized loss (gain) on power swaps 1,114               (1,548)              
Unrealized loss (gain) on natural gas swaps (8,001)              8,369               
Total unrealized loss (gain) on commodity swaps (6,887)              6,821               

Total realized and unrealized loss (gain) on commodity swaps (8,318)              6,379               
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25.  Fair value (continued) 

(b) Carrying amount of risk management asset and liabilities 

Current risk management asset 

  

The carrying amount of current risk management asset represents the unrealized asset from the 
power commodity swaps. 

             Current risk management liability 

 

The carrying amount of current risk management liability represents the unrealized liability from the 
power and natural gas commodity swaps. 

(c) Foreign exchange risk management swap and options 

The Corporation manages this exposure by purchasing foreign currency or entering into foreign 
currency swaps and purchasing put options, for a portion of the exposure. The fair value of the 
foreign currency swap and put options are classified as Level II under the fair value hierarchy as the 
fair values are based on observable market data.  

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corporation had no outstanding foreign exchange risk 
management swaps and options. 

26.  Capital management 

MAXIM manages its capital in a manner consistent with the risk characteristics of the assets it holds.  All 
capital transactions, including equity, debt, and capital leases, are analyzed by management and 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital are: 

(a) to safeguard the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern and provide returns for 
shareholders; 

(b) to facilitate the acquisition or development of power projects in Canada that are accretive to 
providers of capital. 

The Corporation is meeting its objective of managing capital through its detailed review and performance 
of due diligence on all potential expenditures, preparing balance of year and long-term cash flow 
analyses to ensure an adequate amount of liquidity and monthly review of financial results. 

The Corporation uses loans and borrowings to finance capital projects and provide liquidity. 

 

December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023

Power commodity swaps 462               1,584                
Total carrying amount of current risk management asset 462               1,584                

December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023

Natural gas commodity swaps 367               8,369                
Power commodity swaps 29                 36                    
Total carrying amount of current risk management liability 396               8,405                
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26.  Capital management (continued) 

The following table represents the net capital employed by the Corporation: 

  

27.  Subsequent event 

On February 18, 2025, MAXIM entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (“PSA”) to sell the 
Corporation’s wholly-owned subsidiaries Summit Coal Limited Partnership and Summit Coal Inc. 
(collectively “Summit”) to Valory Resources Inc. (“Valory”). Under the terms of the PSA, Valory will pay 
a total purchase price of $14,150, consisting of $10,150 million cash and $4,000 of equity securities in 
the form of either (i) common shares of Valory, or (ii) an interest-bearing note convertible into Valory 
common shares, at MAXIM’s election, prior to Closing of the PSA. Summit will be sold with $2,150 of 
restricted cash, resulting in net cash proceeds on Closing to MAXIM of $8,000. 

 

          December 31,           December 31, 
2024 2023

Loans and borrowings -                        81,203                   
Less: Unrestricted cash (30,068)                  (32,258)                  
(Cash) Net debt (30,068)                  48,945                   
Equity attributable to shareholders 316,020                 297,745                 
Net capital 285,952                 346,690                 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") is dated March 21, 2025 and should be read 
in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Maxim Power Corp. ("MAXIM" or the 
"Corporation") for the year ended December 31, 2024. MAXIM prepares its audited consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board ("IFRS"). MAXIM occasionally refers to non-GAAP and other financial measures in the MD&A which are 
not standardized measures and may not be comparable to other reporting issuers. See the Non-GAAP and 
other financial measures section for more information. The MD&A contains Forward-Looking Information (“FLI”). 
This information is based on certain estimates and assumptions and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual 
results may differ materially. See the FLI section of this MD&A for additional information. 

Capitalized and abbreviated terms that are used but not otherwise defined herein are defined in the Glossary of 
Terms. Throughout this MD&A, dollar amounts within tables are in thousands of Canadian dollars unless 
otherwise noted. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

BUSINESS OF MAXIM ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

OVERALL PERFORMANCE.............................................................................................................................. 2 

OUTLOOK .......................................................................................................................................................... 4 

DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS INITIATIVES .............................................................................................. 5 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION ............................................................................................................. 6 

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION ................................................................................... 7 

2024 FOURTH QUARTER ................................................................................................................................. 8 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS OF OPERATIONS ........................................................................................ 9 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES ....................................................................................................... 12 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CHANGE LEGISLATION ........................................................................ 16 

NON-GAAP AND OTHER FINANCIAL MEASURES ...................................................................................... 17 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES ....................................................................... 19 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS .............................................................................. 20 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS .................................................................................................. 30 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES ................................................................................................. 31 

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES .................................................................................................................. 31  

OTHER INFORMATION .................................................................................................................................. 32  

GLOSSARY OF TERMS .................................................................................................................................. 33  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MAXIM POWER CORP. | Q4 2024 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 Page 2 

BUSINESS OF MAXIM 

MAXIM is an independent power producer engaged in the development, ownership and operation of power 
generation facilities and the resultant sale of generating capacity and electricity. As at the date of this MD&A, 
MAXIM has one power generating facility, Milner 2 (“M2”), a natural gas-fired power plant with 300 MW of 
maximum electric generating capacity in Canada. The M2 power plant is a 300 MW state-of-the-art combined 
cycle gas-fired power plant that was commissioned in the fourth quarter of 2023 and is situated at the HR Milner 
(“Milner”) generating station site near Grande Cache, Alberta. 

 

OVERALL PERFORMANCE 

Highlights  

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

On October 17, 2024, the Corporation voluntarily repaid the outstanding principal on both the Fixed Rate 
Construction Facility and the Bank Term Facility #1, for a total principal repayment of $49.9 million and there 
are no further amounts owing under the Senior Credit Facility.  

On November 7, 2024, MAXIM received a notice of conversion from the lenders under the Convertible Loan 
Facility (“Convertible Loan”) to convert amounts owing thereunder, being $29.4 million, into common shares of 
MAXIM (“Common Shares”). Under the terms of the Convertible Loan, the lenders under this facility received 
13,083,735 Common Shares based on a conversion price of $2.25 per Common Share. In addition, MAXIM and 
the lenders under the Convertible Loan mutually agreed to terminate the facility and as a result, the facility was 
extinguished. As at December 31, 2024 and the date of this MD&A, the Corporation has 63,693,029 Common 
Shares outstanding. 

On November 7, 2024, MAXIM’s board of directors approved the declaration and distribution of a special 
dividend (the “Special Dividend”) of $0.50 per Common Share. The aggregate amount of the Special Dividend 
was $31.8 million, which was payable in cash, and funded from surplus cash. The Special Dividend was paid 
on November 29, 2024.  

In addition, MAXIM amended its Senior Credit Facility on November 7, 2024, to increase and merge the 
combined availability of Revolver Facility #1 and Letter of Credit Facility #1 from $19.1 million to $25.0 million, 
release $10.1 million of restricted cash (refer to Note 8a of the December 31, 2024 Consolidated Financial 
Statements) and to modify other terms of the agreement to provide the Corporation with more flexibility to 
operate its business and permit a Special Dividend.  

 

Financial Performance and Operations 

During 2024, MAXIM recorded net income and adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”(1)) of $21.9 million and $38.5 million, respectively, as compared to net income 
of $28.3 million and Adjusted EBITDA(1) of $50.7 million, respectively, in the same period of 2023. Decreases 
to net income and Adjusted EBITDA(1) in 2024 were primarily due to the cessation of business interruption 
insurance claims in 2024, partially offset by net impacts of operations of M2 in 2024 as compared to the same 
period in 2023 when it was offline due to the Non-Injury Fire which occurred on September 30, 2022 (“Non-
Injury Fire”). 

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 

As previously reported, M2 had been experiencing a temporary capability derate of the legacy cooling tower 
system. As a result, generation from M2 decreased in the second and third quarter of 2024 as compared to the 
first quarter of 2024. Following a planned maintenance outage in early October 2024, the generating capacity 
has been fully restored.   
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MAXIM’s current normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) program is for the September 16, 2024 to September 15, 
2025 period. Under the current NCIB, the Corporation may purchase for cancellation up to 2,529,885 Common 
Shares of the Corporation. Collectively under this program and as of the date of this MD&A, the Corporation 
has repurchased and cancelled 9,710 Common Shares at a weighted average price of $3.93 per share.  

The current NCIB follows the expiration of MAXIM's previous NCIB which was effective from August 31, 2023 
and expired on August 30, 2024. Under MAXIM’s previous NCIB, MAXIM completed the purchase of 312,904 
Common Shares at a weighted average price of $4.36 per share. 

As previously reported, MAXIM submitted an additional insurance claim for a delay in start up related to the 
Non-Injury Fire under its course of construction insurance policy, which includes a provision for delay in start up 
coverage relating to the Combined Cycle Gas Turbine (“CCGT”) expansion of M2. The insurer denied coverage 
under this policy, which the Corporation is disputing by way of arbitration. The amount of the dispute is up to 
$25.0 million. The outcome of any arbitration, including the time thereof and any reward therefrom is uncertain 
and has not been recognized by the Corporation in the financial statements. 

During 2024, the Corporation filed a statement of claim for compensation against the companies and individuals 
that caused damage to M2’s air inlet filter house on September 30, 2022. The timing and compensation from 
the claim, if any, is uncertain and has not been recognized by the Corporation in the financial statements. 

 

Development and Business Initiatives  

On February 18, 2025, MAXIM entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (“PSA”) to sell the Corporation’s 
wholly-owned subsidiaries Summit Coal Limited Partnership and Summit Coal Inc. (collectively “Summit”) to 
Valory Resources Inc. (“Valory”). Under the terms of the PSA, Valory will pay a total purchase price of $14.2 
million, consisting of $10.2 million cash and $4.0 million of equity securities in the form of either (i) common 
shares of Valory, or (ii) an interest-bearing note convertible into Valory common shares, at MAXIM’s election, 
prior to Closing of the PSA (“Closing”). Summit will be sold with $2.2 million of restricted cash, resulting in net 
cash proceeds on Closing to MAXIM of $8.0 million. 

Prior to Closing, MAXIM and Summit will enter into an agreement such that MAXIM will receive a 3% royalty on 
any raw coal volume produced from the coal leases currently owned by Summit, including any volumes from 
Summit’s Mine 14 project. The royalty will be calculated using a Premium Low Vol Hard Coking Coal benchmark 
and will be paid in United States dollars. The amount and timing of any royalty payments is contingent on the 
commencement of production and there is no certainty as to if, or when, production may begin. 

MAXIM, has agreed, commensurate with Closing, to enter into a ground lease at the Milner site, with a nominee 
of Valory, to allow for construction and operation of a coal processing facility, the form and terms of which are 
appended to the PSA, which is available on SEDAR+. MAXIM anticipates the Closing to occur in the first half of 
2025. 
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Annual Financial Highlights 

   
(1) Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow (“FCF”) are non-GAAP measures. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 

Financial Results   

Revenue in 2024 increased as compared to 2023 primarily due to the continuing operations of M2 whereas it 
was primarily offline during 2023 due to the Non-Injury Fire. M2 re-commenced the generation of electricity in 
the third quarter of 2023 when repairs to the air inlet filter house were completed and commissioning activities 
of the CCGT expansion of M2 resumed. Revenue in 2023 decreased as compared to 2022 due to lower 
generation volumes as a result of the Non-Injury Fire at M2 which occurred in September 2022.  

Average realized power prices compared to average market power prices were lower in 2024 due to an 
unplanned outage in January 2024 at M2 coinciding with a period of higher market power prices. In addition, 
average realized power prices compared to average market power prices were lower in 2023 and 2022 as a 
result of downtime from the Non-Injury Fire and commissioning activities at M2 coinciding with higher market 
power prices. 

Adjusted EBITDA(1) and net income in 2024 decreased as compared to 2023 and 2022 due to the recognition 
of business interruption claims in 2023 and 2022, and higher revenues in 2022. In addition, FCF(1) increased 
due to lower capital spending in 2024 as compared to the same periods in 2023 and 2022. 

(1) Adjusted EBITDA and FCF are non-GAAP measures. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 

 

OUTLOOK 

Alberta Power Price 

The following commentary represents FLI and users are cautioned that actual results may vary. Refer to the 
discussion of FLI on page 6 for further details. 

In 2021, management observed increased power prices as a result of higher demand for electricity due to 
increased economic activity in Alberta in reaction to higher oil prices, reduced negative impact from COVID-19 
and the return of dispatch control of six coal-fired units, totaling 2,380 MW of generation capacity, from the 
Balancing Pool to independent power producers. This increase is reflected in actual power prices for 2021 as 
shown in the graph below. Power prices continued to increase in 2022 for the same reasons as 2021, and were 
further elevated due to higher carbon pricing, natural gas pricing, and certain unit outages affecting generation 
supply. 2023 power prices were lower than 2022 due to increased renewable generation which has been 
partially offset by increased load, unit outages and higher carbon pricing. The graph also shows forward power 
prices continuing to decline in 2024 and 2025, relative to 2023, as a result of expectations that new wind and 
solar generation projects will come online in addition to new gas-fired generation projects. Forward power prices 
are expected to stabilize in 2025 after the last of the large gas-fired generation projects finish commissioning 
and reach commercial operation. 

(000's unless otherwise noted) 2024 2023 2022

Revenue 101,482             41,458           141,263         
21,946               28,295           42,277           

Basic earnings per share ($ per share) 0.42                  0.56              0.84              
Diluted earnings per share ($ per share) 0.38                  0.49              0.72              

Adjusted EBITDA (1) 38,531               50,686           76,110           
Free cash flow (1) 28,763               16,857           18,741           
Total generation (MWh) 1,733,267          516,849         1,064,693      
Total fuel consumption (GJ) 14,221,985        4,315,372      11,264,897    
Average Alberta market power price  ($ per MWh) 62.78                133.63           162.46           

58.55                80.21             132.68           

Non-current liabilities 31,571               101,575         97,202           
Total assets 359,098             425,840         382,109         

Average realized power price ($ per MWh)

Net income



MAXIM POWER CORP. | Q4 2024 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 Page 5 

Near-term (2025) Alberta natural gas forward prices have fallen significantly, primarily as a result of local Alberta 
supply/demand fundamentals and limited pipeline capacity to get Alberta natural gas to other markets. The 
result of this has caused local Alberta natural gas prices to be significantly discounted as compared to broader 
North American natural gas prices. Longer-term (2026+) Alberta natural gas forward prices are consistent with 
the range of historical prices and in line with management’s expectations. 

 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS INITIATIVES 

The Corporation maintains optionality for all of its development and business initiatives in order to maximize 
shareholder value, including outright sale, joint venture, build and operate or development process to maintain 
certain initiatives as future opportunities.   

Future Business Initiatives 

All future growth initiatives are at various stages of development and subject to, among other things, financing, 
development and permitting of necessary electrical transmission and fuel supply infrastructure, equipment 
procurement and various other commercial contracts. As at the date of this MD&A, no definitive commitments 
on these future business initiatives have been made. 

MAXIM owns the 400 MW Prairie Lights Power natural gas-fired power generation development project located 
near Grande Prairie, Alberta, which is in the early stages of development. MAXIM also owns a wind development 
project, (“Buffalo Atlee”), which has the potential for up to 200 MW of power generation capacity. In recent years, 
MAXIM installed a new meteorological tower on the site lands to further expand and improve the quality of the 
project’s wind resource data. The Corporation continues to monitor changes to provincial and federal 
government regulations as they relate to opportunities to develop and construct natural gas and wind power 
projects. 

Other Business Initiatives  

During 2024, MAXIM commenced early project review of the land-filled fly ash previously produced by the legacy 
coal-fired power facility at the Milner site. Fly ash is a byproduct from burning coal and can be used as a low 
carbon intensity alternative for cement mix. MAXIM is continuing to evaluate the potential opportunity to 
monetize its land-filled fly ash deposit and cannot say at this time what, if any, value this may have for the 
Corporation. 
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Summit is a wholly owned subsidiary of MAXIM that owns metallurgical coal leases for Mine 14 and Mine 16S 
located north of Grande Cache, Alberta. Current estimates for Mine 14 are 18.9 million tonnes of low-mid volatile 
metallurgical coal reserves based on the NI 43-101 technical report filed on SEDAR+ on March 21, 2013. Mine 
16S is located 30 kilometers northwest of Mine 14 and represents 1,792 hectares or 29% of Summit’s total area 
of coal leases. A NI 43-101 Technical Report has not been prepared for Mine 16S.  

Summit filed applications with the Alberta Energy Regulator ("AER") in June 2023 for the remaining approvals 
required to construct and operate the Mine 14 project. Following a robust review process by the AER, Summit 
was informed in October 2024 that the AER is recommending that the applications be decided by a panel of 
hearing commissioners. The timing of a decision by the AER in regard to the applications is currently unknown. 

As previously reported, MAXIM entered into a contract with Valory who is paying for and advancing the 
remaining required approvals for construction and operation of the Mine 14 project, in exchange for the option 
to purchase Summit. Valory provided notice to MAXIM on February 11, 2025 that it was exercising its right to 
purchase Summit. On February 18, 2025, MAXIM and Valory signed a PSA. MAXIM anticipates closing the PSA 
in the first half of 2025, at which point Valory would become the owners of Summit. 

MAXIM maintains the flexibility to manage the timing of its business initiatives. MAXIM accounts for its 
development projects as assets under construction included in property, plant and equipment once technical 
and economic feasibility is established. If a project has not yet met, or no longer meets these criteria, any 
capitalized costs for the project are expensed in the period. 

 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION  

FLI and forward looking statements included in this MD&A are provided to inform the Corporation’s shareholders 
and potential investors about management’s assessment of the Corporation’s future plans and operations. This 
information may not be appropriate for other purposes.  

Readers are cautioned that management’s expectations, estimates, projections and assumptions used in the 
preparation of such information, although considered reasonable at the time of preparation, may prove to be 
imprecise and, as such, undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements.   

Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “anticipate”, “plan”, 
“estimate”, “intend”, “believe”, “expect”, “will”, “may”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “could”, “might”, “should”, 
and other similar expressions. The Corporation believes the expectations reflected in forward-looking 
statements and FLI are reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be 
correct. These forward-looking statements speak only to the date of this MD&A and are expressly qualified by 
this cautionary statement. Specifically, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements concerning, among 
other things, timing for the potential sale of Summit, capital expenditures, outlook for commodity prices and 
changes in market rules. The Corporation disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statements or FLI, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise except as required 
pursuant to applicable securities laws. Certain information in this MD&A is FLI and is subject to important risks 
and uncertainties. The results or events predicted in this information may differ from actual results or events.   

Factors which could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations include the 
ability of the Corporation to implement its strategic initiatives, the availability of capital and contractors to execute 
its development initiatives, the availability and price of energy commodities, government and regulatory 
decisions including carbon pricing, power plant availability and capacity under simple cycle or combined cycle, 
competitive factors in the power industry, foreign exchange and tax rates, the impact of pandemics, prevailing 
economic conditions in the regions that the Corporation operates, operational efficiency and planned or 
unplanned plant outages and the other risks described herein and under the heading "Risk Factors" in the 
Corporation’s most recently filed annual information form filed on SEDAR+ at www.sedarplus.ca. 
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These factors should not be construed as exhaustive. The forward-looking statements contained in this 
document are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. MAXIM does not undertake any obligation to 
publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements except as expressly required by applicable securities 
law. With respect to forward-looking statements contained within this MD&A, MAXIM has made the following 
assumptions as at the date of this MD&A: 

 MAXIM’s operating cashflow is largely dependent on electric power and natural gas prices. Management 
forecasts that cash flows for operating and general and administrative expenses will be funded by positive 
cashflows from revenues and existing cash on hand. MAXIM estimates total capital expenditures to be 
incurred in 2025 of approximately $11.0 million. These expenditures primarily relate to sustaining capital 
spending of M2. 

 The Corporation will continue to have access to its credit facility and not be in default. 

 The Corporation will retain sufficient liquidity to maintain operations and continue to invest in its development 
portfolio. 

 MAXIM’s continued compliance with all necessary provincial and federal regulations for environmental and 
climate change legislation and all necessary requirements of operating permits. Further changes to 
environmental legislation and operational issues may affect the ability of MAXIM to comply with regulations 
and may result in unplanned costs and plant outages. 

 Other matters and factors described under the Outlook section on page 4. 

 

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

Financial Highlights  

 

Quarter ended: 31-Dec 30-Sep 30-Jun 31-Mar

(unaudited) ($000's unless otherwise noted)  2024  2024  2024  2024

Revenue 24,048          25,659          17,007          34,768          

Net income (loss) (341)              10,744          1,056            10,487          

Basic earnings (loss) per share ($ per share) (0.01)             0.21              0.02              0.21              

Diluted earnings (loss) per share ($ per share) (0.01)             0.18              0.02              0.18              

Adjusted EBITDA(1) 5,647            12,675          4,287            15,922          

Average realized power price ($ per MWh) 56.52            55.11            46.51            72.96            

Total fuel consumption (GJ) 3,514,660     3,756,808     3,034,857     3,915,660     

Total generation (MWh) 425,486        465,584        365,666        476,531        

Quarter ended: 31-Dec 30-Sep 30-Jun 31-Mar

(unaudited) ($000's unless otherwise noted)  2023  2023  2023  2023

Revenue 38,990          2,468            -                    -                    

Net income (loss) 19,477          (4,897)           5,964            7,751            

Basic earnings (loss) per share ($ per share) 0.39              (0.10)             0.12              0.15              

Diluted earnings (loss) per share ($ per share) 0.32              (0.10)             0.11              0.14              

Adjusted EBITDA(1) 31,512          (1,545)           8,988            11,731          

Average realized power price ($ per MWh) 81.61            78.03            -                    -                

Total fuel consumption (GJ) 3,855,880     436,985        961               21,546          

Total generation (MWh) 485,222        31,627          -                    -                    
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Quarter over quarter revenue, Adjusted EBITDA(1) and net income are affected by planned and unplanned 
outages, market demand, power and natural gas prices, weather conditions and the seasonal nature of Alberta 
power prices. Alberta power prices tend to be higher during winter and summer peak load months and are 
further affected by supply constraints such as outages at other Alberta generation facilities. Reported revenue, 
Adjusted EBITDA(1)  and net income fluctuated in 2023 and 2024 due to variations in generation volumes of M2 
and realized power prices. Revenue and net income decreased in the first nine months of 2023 as a result of 
the Non-Injury Fire at M2 and subsequently increased in the fourth quarter of 2023 upon commissioning of the 
CCGT expansion of M2.  

In addition to the factors noted above, net income is affected by certain non-cash and non-recurring transactions 
as follows: 

 The fourth quarter of 2024 included $3.0 million of net commodity swap losses and $0.3 million of 
income tax expense. 

 The third quarter of 2024 included $7.9 million of net commodity swap gains and $2.7 million of income 
tax expense. 

 The second quarter of 2024 included $0.2 million of net commodity swap gains. 

 The first quarter of 2024 included $3.2 million of net commodity swap gains and $3.2 million of income 
tax expense.  

 The fourth quarter of 2023 included other income of $20.7 million in relation to the insurance claim, net 
of air inlet filter house expenses, $2.0 million of asset impairment charge, $6.4 million of income tax 
expense and $5.0 million of net commodity swap losses.  

 The third quarter of 2023 included other income of $5.2 million in relation to the insurance claim, net of 
air inlet filter house expenses, $1.5 million of income tax recovery and $1.4 million of net commodity 
swap losses.  

 The second quarter of 2023 included other income of $18.5 million in relation to the insurance claim, 
net of air inlet filter house expenses, and $1.9 million of income tax expense.  

 The first quarter of 2023 included other income of $20.0 million in relation to the insurance claim, net of 
air inlet filter house expenses, and $2.3 million of income tax expense. 

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 
 

2024 FOURTH QUARTER 

Selected fourth quarter financial information: 

  

Revenue, net income and Adjusted EBITDA(1) in the fourth quarter of 2024 decreased by $15.0 million, $19.8 
million and $25.9 million, respectively, when compared to the same period in 2023 due to lower realized power 
prices and generation volumes in 2024. In addition, net income and Adjusted EBITDA further decreased due to 
the recognition of the business interruption claim in 2023. 

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 
 

 

2024 2023
Revenue 24,048           38,990           
Net income (loss) (341)              19,477           
Basic earnings (loss) per share ($ per share) (0.01)             0.39              
Diluted earnings (loss) per share ($ per share) (0.01)             0.32              

 Adjusted EBITDA (1) 5,647             31,512           

 Total fuel consumption (GJ) 3,514,660      3,855,880      
Total generation (MWh) 425,486         485,222         
Average Alberta market power price ($ per MWh) 51.52             81.61             
Average realized power price ($ per MWh) 56.52             80.35             

($000's, unless otherwise noted)
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Revenue 

 

Revenue in 2024 increased by $60.0 million to $101.5 million from $41.5 million in 2023 due to higher generation 
volumes in 2024 as M2 was primarily offline in 2023 due to the Non-Injury Fire.  

Plant Operations 

Plant operations expenses are grouped into three major categories, fuel, Greenhouse Gas Emission 
Compliance Costs (“Carbon Costs”) and Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”). 

 

Fuel expenses in 2024 increased by $10.2 million to $23.8 million from $13.6 million in 2023, respectively, 
primarily due to higher generation volumes in 2024 as M2 was primarily offline in 2023 due to the Non-Injury 
Fire.   

Carbon Costs in 2024 increased $2.8 million to $6.1 million from $3.3 million in 2023 due to higher generation 
volumes as M2 was primarily offline in 2023 due to the Non-Injury Fire. Carbon Costs were lower than expected 
in 2024 due to favourable external carbon pricing market conditions.  

O&M expenses in 2024 increased by $7.2 million, or 33%, to $28.7 million from $21.5 million in 2023, primarily 
due to repairs to the cooling tower, outage maintenance costs incurred, higher insurance premiums and variable 
O&M associated with the operation of M2. 

General and Administrative Expense 

 

General and administration expense in 2024 increased by $0.8 million, or 12%, to $7.5 million from $6.7 million 
in 2023, primarily due to increased employee compensation costs, community investment contributions and 
lower general and administrative capital allocations to M2. 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 

 

Depreciation and amortization expense in 2024 increased by $4.9 million, or 51%, to $14.6 million from $9.7 
million in 2023, primarily due to commencement of depreciation of the CCGT expansion of M2. 

Other Income, Net 

 
 
Other income in 2024 was $3.0 million as compared to $64.5 million, respectively, in 2023. The decrease is 
primarily due to insurance claims in 2023, net of non-capital air inlet filter house costs as a result of the Non-
Injury Fire at M2, partially offset by realizing a $2.8 million contingent gain in the second quarter of 2024 relating 
to the sale of a wind development project sold in 2018.  

 

 

2024 2023
Revenue           101,482               41,458 

($000's)

($000's) Fuel
Carbon 

Costs
O&M Total Fuel

Carbon 
Costs

O&M Total

Total 23,802    6,122         28,733     58,657 13,570    3,280         21,531     38,381 

2024 2023

($000's) 2024 2023
        7,528          6,706 Total general and administrative expense

($000's) 2024 2023
Total depreciation and amortization       14,563          9,695 

($000's) 2024 2023
       (2,961)       (64,528)Other income, net
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Loss (Gain) on Commodity Swaps 

 

In 2024, MAXIM realized net gains of $1.4 million, on Alberta power and natural gas price risk management 
swaps, as compared to 2023 which realized gains of $0.4 million. These net gains are due to settled Alberta 
power and natural gas prices deviating from the fixed swap price. 

In 2024, MAXIM has unrealized gains of $6.9 million on Alberta power and natural gas price risk management 
swaps, as compared to 2023 which had unrealized losses of $6.8 million. These gains and losses are due to 
Alberta power and natural gas forward prices deviating from the fixed swap price.  

Finance Expense, Net 

  

Net finance expense in 2024 decreased by $1.5 million, or 28%, to $3.9 million from $5.4 million in 2023, 
primarily due to higher interest income as a result of increased cash throughout a majority of 2024 and lower 
interest expense on loans and borrowings as a result of  repaying and converting all of MAXIM’s outstanding 
loans and borrowings. This favourable variance was partially offset by higher interest expense as the 
capitalization of interest ceased upon commissioning of the CCGT expansion of M2. 

Income Tax Expense  

 

In 2024, income tax expense decreased $2.9 million, or 32%, to $6.2 million from $9.1 million in 2023 due to 
MAXIM having lower income before taxes in 2024. 

MAXIM claimed $21.3 million of non-capital losses in the 2022 taxation year, which were denied by the Canada 
Revenue Agency. During the first quarter of 2024, MAXIM filed a notice of appeal to the Tax Court of Canada, 
appealing the Canada Revenue Agency's assessment. These non-capital losses relate to a portion of the 
unrecognized deferred tax assets referenced in Note 21(c) of the December 31, 2024 Consolidated Financial 
Statements. MAXIM has paid the tax authorities the reassessed amount of $4.9 million and, as such, no tax 
liability exists as a result of claiming these non-capital losses. 

 

 

($000's) 2024 2023

Realized gain on power swaps (13,131)     (1,444)       
Realized loss on natural gas swaps 11,700      1,002        
Total realized gain on commodity swaps        (1,431) (442)          

($000's) 2024 2023

Unrealized loss (gain) on power swaps 1,114        (1,548)       
(8,001)      8,369        

Total unrealized loss (gain) on commodity swaps (6,887)      6,821        

Total realized and unrealized loss (gain) on commodity swaps (8,318)      6,379        

Unrealized loss (gain) on natural gas swaps

($000's) 2024 2023
6,634        6,641        

Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,431        1,381        
347          330           

Foreign exchange loss (gain) (84)           1               
Finance expense 8,328        8,353        
Interest income (4,436)      (2,932)       

3,892        5,421        Total finance expense, net

Interest expense and bank charges

Accretion of provisions

2024 2023
Current tax expense 62            125           

6,113        8,982        
Total income tax expense 6,175        9,107        
Deferred tax expense 

($000's)
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Financial Position 

The following highlights the changes in the Corporation's Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at 
December 31, 2024, as compared to December 31, 2023. 

 

  (1) Other assets and other liabilities are non-GAAP measures. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As at ($000's)

December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023

Increase 
(Decrease) Primary factors explaining change

Assets

30,068          32,258           (2,190)      

6,244           47,877           (41,633)    

306,035        313,461         (7,426)      

16,751          32,244           (15,493)    

Liabilities & Equity

11,111          13,287           (2,176)      

-               81,203           (81,203)    

31,967          33,605           (1,638)      

316,020        297,745         18,275     Increased primarily due to conversion 
of Convertible Loan Facility and net 
income for the period, partially offset 
by dividends paid

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Decreased as a result of financing 
activities, partially offset by operating 
and investing activities 

Trade and other 
receivables

Decreased as a result of the collection 
of prior period receivables, including 
an insurance receivable

Decreased due to lower risk 
management liabilities, partially offset 
by deferred tax liability reflecting 
deferred tax expense for the year

Decreased due to the timing of 
settlement of accounts payable

Decreased due to principal debt 
repayments and conversion of 
Convertible Loan Facility

Property, plant and 
equipment, net and 
asset held for sale

Decreased as a result of depreciation, 
partially offset by asset additions

Decreased as a result of lower 
restricted cash and current tax assets

Other assets(1)

Trade and other 
payables 

Loans and 
borrowings

Other liabilities(1)

Equity
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  

Liquidity 

Management is anticipating that cash flows for capital spending, operating and general and administrative 
expenses will be funded by MAXIM's existing cash on hand and operating revenues from the CCGT expansion 
of M2. As at the date of this MD&A, MAXIM has unrestricted cash of $30.1 million, no outstanding debt and 
available borrowing capacity of up to $18.7 million.  

Senior Credit Facility 

On October 17, 2024, the Corporation repaid the outstanding principal on both the Fixed Rate Construction 
Facility and the Bank Term Facility #1, for total principal repayment of $49.9 million. In addition, on November 
7, 2024, MAXIM amended its Senior Credit Facility to allow for the following: 

 Increase and merge the combined availability of Revolver Facility #1 and Letter of Credit Facility #1 
from $19.1 million to $25.0 million; 

 Restricted cash of $10.1 million released for general use (refer to Note 8a of the December 31, 2024 
Consolidated Financial Statements);  

 The distribution of a one-time Special Dividend of $0.50 per Common Share; and 

 Allowance for distributions, in the form of dividends or share repurchases, up to $20.0 million per 
calendar year, subject to terms and conditions of the Senior Credit Facility. 

The Senior Credit Facility matures on June 30, 2026 and amounts available under the facility are as follows: 

 Revolver Facility #1 has increased from a $15.0 million to a $25.0 million revolver following the 
amendment on November 7, 2024. This facility is available for general corporate purposes and is 
undrawn, however availability of $6.3 million was used to issue cash collateralized letters of credit which 
reduced availability to $18.7 million. The Corporation can elect to remove the $6.3 million cash collateral 
related to the letters of credit, in exchange for a higher margin fee, however the availability of the facility 
is reduced by this amount regardless of whether the letters of credit are cash collateralized or not.   

The remaining facilities of the Senior Credit Facility are extinguished: 

 Bank Term Facility #1 was fully repaid on October 17, 2024 with a final payment of $21.4 million. No 
additional amounts are available under this facility and it is fully extinguished. 

 Fixed Rate Term Facility was fully repaid on October 17, 2024 with a final payment of $28.5 million. No 
additional amounts are available under this facility and it is fully extinguished. 

 Bank Construction Facility was an undrawn $27.4 million facility available for the construction of the 
CCGT expansion of M2. This facility is no longer available and was fully extinguished following the 
completion of certain terms and conditions in the Senior Credit Facility in the second quarter of 2024.  

 Revolver Facility #2 was a $5.0 million facility, is no longer available and fully extinguished as it was 
merged with Revolver Facility #1 in the second quarter of 2024. 

 Letter of Credit Facility #1 was a $4.1 million facility and is no longer available as it was extinguished 
following the amendment on November 7, 2024. 

The Senior Credit Facility is secured by the assets of the Corporation, bears interest at Canadian prime rate or 
Canadian overnight repo rate, plus applicable margins.  
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Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2024, and as a result of the amendment on November 7, 2024, MAXIM is 
no longer required to maintain the debt service coverage ratio or the debt to Adjusted EBITDA(1) ratio. 
Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2024, MAXIM is required to maintain a net debt(1) to Adjusted EBITDA(1) 
ratio of not greater than 3.00:1.00. Commencing in the first quarter of 2025, MAXIM is required to maintain an 
interest coverage ratio of not less than 5.00:1.00 on a rolling four quarter basis. The interest coverage ratio will 
be annualized beginning in the first quarter of 2025 utilizing the rolling four quarter Adjusted EBITDA(1) and 
annualized interest expense starting January 1, 2025. Once four full fiscal financial quarters have occurred the 
annualized interest expense will be replaced with the rolling four quarter interest expense. MAXIM is also 
required to comply with the minimum tangible assets of 95% of the consolidated tangible assets held within 
select entities named under the agreement. The Corporation is compliant with these covenants as at December 
31, 2024. 

(1) Adjusted EBITDA and net debt are a non-GAAP measures. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 

Convertible Loan Facility 

On November 7, 2024, the Corporation received notice of conversion from the lenders under the Convertible 
Loan to convert amounts owing thereunder, being $29.4 million, into Common Shares. Under the terms of the 
Convertible Loan, the lenders received 13,083,735 Common Shares which is based on a conversion price of 
$2.25 per Common Share. In addition, MAXIM and the lenders under the Convertible Loan mutually agreed to 
terminate the facility and as a result the facility was extinguished.  

The Convertible Loan was provided by two significant shareholders of the Corporation, one of whom is the Chair 
of the board and the other is Vice Chair of the board. Total interest and fees paid under this facility in 2024 was 
$2.8 million (2023 - $3.9 million). 

Letter of Credit Facility #2 

The Corporation has a demand credit facility, separate from the Senior Credit Facility and Convertible Loan, 
that requires full cash collateralization of letters of credit on a non-revolving basis. As at December 31, 2024, 
the Corporation has $2.2 million of outstanding letters of credit and cash of the same amount was deposited 
into a restricted bank account maintained by the bank. There are no financial covenants under this credit 
agreement. 

Cash flow summary: 

At December 31, 2024, the Corporation had unrestricted cash of $30.1 million included in the working capital(1) 
surplus of $30.0 million (see working capital on page 14). Unrestricted cash balances are on deposit with three 
Canadian financial institutions.  

(1) Working capital is a non-GAAP measure. See Non-GAAP Measures. 

The following table represents the changes in cash flows and net liquidity available of the Corporation: 

 

(1) Net liquidity available is a non-GAAP measure. See Non-GAAP Measures. 

Year ended December 31 ($000's) 2024 2023

32,258     51,378     
Cash flow generated from operating activities 84,069     23,616     

(93,645)    (10,640)    
Available for investments 22,682     64,354     
Cash flow generated from (used in) investing activities 7,302       (32,095)    
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash 84           (1)            
Unrestricted cash 30,068     32,258     
Undrawn Convertible Loan Facility -              45,562     

18,699     42,254     

Net liquidity available, December 31(1) 48,767     120,074   

Cash on hand, unrestricted, January 1

Cash flow used in financing activities

Undrawn Senior Credit Facility
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Cash flow generated from operating activities in 2024 increased to $84.1 million from $23.6 million in 2023, 
which is an increase of $60.5 million. The increase is primarily due to changes in non-cash working capital, 
higher earnings from the operations of M2 and lower income taxes paid in 2024. See working capital section on 
page 14 for further discussion.  

During 2024, MAXIM’s cash flow used in financing activities increased $83.0 million to $93.6 million in 2024 
from $10.6 million in 2023, primarily due to repayment of all amounts outstanding under the Senior Credit Facility 
and dividends paid. 

MAXIM’s investing activities in 2024 represented a cash inflow of $7.3 million, increasing from an outflow of 
$32.1 million in 2023. During 2024, MAXIM had changes in non-cash working capital of $7.3 million, interest 
income of $4.4 million and proceeds on sale of a wind development project of $2.8 million, partially offset by 
$7.2 million of spending on sustaining capital projects at M2.  

MAXIM’s investing activities in 2023 represented a cash outflow of $32.1 million. During 2023, MAXIM spent 
$27.4 million primarily on the CCGT expansion of M2 and the new air inlet filter house, and changes in non-
cash working capital of $7.7 million, partially offset by interest income of $3.0 million. 

The following table represents the net capital(1) of the Corporation: 

 

The Corporation uses the percent of net debt to capital to monitor leverage. The decrease in net debt to capital 
from December 31, 2023 to December 31, 2024 is primarily due to the utilization of cashflows to settle all 
outstanding debts. 

(1) Net capital, net debt and net debt to capital are non-GAAP measures. See Non-GAAP Measures. 

Working Capital(1) 

The following table represents the working capital surplus of the Corporation: 

 

The Corporation has a working capital surplus of $30.0 million at December 31, 2024, which represents a $35.8 
million decrease from the working capital surplus of $65.8 million at December 31, 2023. The net decrease is 
comprised of a $50.8 million decrease in current assets and a $15.0 million decrease in current liabilities. 

The decrease in current assets was due to a decrease of trade and other receivables of $41.6 million, current 
tax asset of $4.7 million, cash and cash equivalents of $2.2 million, prepaid expenses and deposits of $1.2 
million and risk management asset of $1.1 million.  

The decrease in current liabilities was due to a decrease in risk management liabilities of $8.0 million, current 
portion of loans and borrowings of $4.8 million and accounts payable of $2.2 million. 

(1) Working capital is a non-GAAP measure. See Non-GAAP Measures. 

 

 

 

As at ($000's)
Loans and borrowings

Net debt (net cash) (1)

Shareholders’ equity

Net capital(1)

Net debt (net cash) to capital (1)

December 31, 2024
81,203                  

December 31, 2023
-                 

Less: Unrestricted cash (32,258)                

346,690                

 14.1% 

285,952      

  (10.5%)

297,745                

(30,068)       
(30,068)       

316,020      

48,945                  

As at ($000's) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 Change
Total current assets 41,473                   92,323                  (50,850)   
Total current liabilities 11,507                   26,520                  (15,013)   

Working capital surplus(1) 29,966                   65,803                  (35,837)   
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Financial Covenants 

MAXIM’s Senior Credit Facility agreement is subject to financial covenants measured using ratios and amounts: 

interest coverage ratio, net debt(1)  to Adjusted EBITDA(1) and the asset coverage test.  

Interest Coverage Ratio 

The interest coverage ratio is calculated as Adjusted EBITDA(1) divided by interest expense and bank 

charges (refer to Note 17 of the December 31, 2024 Consolidated Financial Statements) 

Net Debt to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization Ratio 

The debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ratio reflects the Corporation’s 

debt less cash and cash equivalents divided by Adjusted EBITDA(1).  

Asset Coverage Percent 

The asset coverage percent covenant requires that at the end of each financial quarter the tangible 

assets of the loan parties are not less than the lesser of (a) 95% of the consolidated tangible assets and 

(b) consolidated tangible assets less any tangible assets attributed to Summit.  

 

As at December 31, 2024, the Corporation is compliant with these financial covenants as per the credit 

agreement. 

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. See Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures. 

Capital Resources  

This following commentary represents FLI and users are cautioned that actual results may vary. The Corporation 
is currently anticipating capital expenditures of approximately $11.0 million for the full year of 2025. These 
expenditures primarily relate to sustaining capital spending of M2. 

Contractual Obligations and Contingencies 

In the normal course of operations, MAXIM assumes various contractual obligations and commitments. MAXIM 
considers these obligations and commitments in its assessment of liquidity. 

 
Long-term contracts are comprised of natural gas transportation agreements and contracts to purchase emission credits. 

Contingent assets 

During 2024, the Corporation filed a statement of claim for compensation against third parties in relation to the 
Non-Injury Fire on September 30, 2022, which caused damage to M2’s air inlet filter house. As at December 
31, 2024, the precise amount and timing of compensation from these claims, if any, cannot be determined, and 
therefore no amount has been reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

Ratio Covenant 2024
Interest coverage ratio Minimum 5:1 NA
Net debt to Adjusted EBITDA Maximum 3.00:1 (0.8)                       
Asset Coverage Minimum 95% 100%

As at December 31, 2024 Total 2025 2026-2027 2028-2029 Thereafter
Long-term contracts          15,900            6,023           6,609           2,849              419 
Total          15,900            6,023           6,609           2,849              419 
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Contingent liabilities 

The Corporation operates in a regulatory and commercial environment that exposes it to regulatory, contractual 
and litigation risks. As a result, the Corporation is subject to certain disputes and legal proceedings, including 
litigation, arbitration, and regulatory investigations. Such cases are subject to many uncertainties, and the 
outcomes are often difficult to predict, including the impact on operations or on the financial statements, 
particularly in the earlier stages of a case. In certain circumstances, to avoid the expense and distraction of legal 
proceedings, the Corporation may, based on a cost-benefit analysis, enter into a settlement even though 
denying any wrongdoing. The Corporation makes provisions for cases brought against it when, in the opinion 
of management after seeking legal advice, it is probable that a liability exists, and the amount can be reliably 
estimated. Management believes that these contingencies, individually or in aggregate, are not expected to 
result in a liability that would have a material adverse effect on the Corporation. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CHANGE LEGISLATION  

MAXIM continues to monitor regulatory initiatives that may impact its existing business. As a result, MAXIM 
continues to assess its impact on climate change and is exploring low emission power generation projects, 
including its Buffalo Atlee wind development project and other wind opportunities.  

Risks 

MAXIM is exposed to risks of potential legislation that has yet to be enacted. Management has assessed that 
the most significant risks in potential future legislation are greenhouse gas stringency and legislation that could 
seek to phase out natural gas-fired generation entirely, similar to the regulatory actions taken in recent years 
surrounding coal-fired generation. 

Canada 

On March 15, 2022, the Government of Canada released a discussion paper A Clean Electricity Standard in 
support of a net-zero electricity sector, signaling its intent to move forward with regulations to achieve a net-
zero electricity system by 2035. 

The Government of Canada released the draft Clean Electricity Regulation (“CER”) on August 19, 2023 that 
would establish the performance standard framework applicable to existing and new natural gas generation 
facilities to achieve the federal government’s objectives. On February 16, 2024, the Government of Canada 
provided an update of what they heard during the public consultation process and on the directions being 
considered for the final clean electricity regulations. On December 18, 2024, the final CER regulations were 
released which beginning in 2035 will set limits on carbon dioxide from electricity generation units that use fossil 
fuels and by 2050, will ensure a net-zero electricity system. The final standards are not anticipated to have a 
significant effect on the operations of M2, but could potentially have an impact on natural gas-fired generation 
development projects not yet built. The Government of Alberta (“GoA”) has indicated it plans to prepare a court 
challenge to the CER regulations. 

Alberta 

On April 19, 2023, the GoA released their Emissions Reduction and Energy Development (“ERED”) plan which 
“includes an aspiration to achieve a carbon neutral economy by 2050, and to do so without compromising 
affordable, reliable and secure energy for Albertans, Canadians and the world.” Generally, as it applies to the 
electricity sector, the plan is supportive of new technology and a continued price on carbon via the Technology 
Innovation and Emission Reduction Regulation (“TIER”). Most notable is that while the provincial carbon neutral 
goal of 2050 aligns with the federal goal of 2050, there is not a short-term goal nor a specific electricity sector 
target for Alberta. MAXIM management continues to monitor the provincial approach to net carbon neutrality.  To 
date, the GoA has not made any further announcements regarding ERED since the release of the initial plan. 
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In the second half of 2023, the GoA announced its intention to consider potential electricity market reforms to 
help ensure reliable, affordable and low carbon electricity for Albertans. Multiple government agencies, including 
the Alberta Electric System Operator (“AESO”), Market Surveillance Administrator (“MSA”) and the Alberta 
Utilities Commission were tasked with providing specific recommendations in their area of expertise to inform 
the path forward for the GoA. On March 11, 2024, following recommendations from the MSA and the AESO, 
the GoA announced temporary market rules changes that took effect July 1, 2024.  These temporary rules are 
related to the exercise of market power and will be in place until a new restructured energy market can be 
designed and implemented by 2027.  Management is monitoring the impacts of the temporary market rules and 
has observed that they resulted in lower market prices during the month of July 2024, during which the new 
secondary offer cap rule was triggered due to high clearing prices corresponding with a prolonged heat wave.  
The offer cap reset in August 2024 and the secondary offer cap has not been triggered since. Additionally, 
Management is actively participating in the development of the new restructured energy market, to understand 
what, if any, impact this initiative may have on the Corporation. 

TIER regulations 

Starting January 1, 2023, M2 is exposed to carbon tax on emissions via the TIER Regulations. For 2024, 
emissions greater than the electricity benchmark of 0.3552 tonnes of CO2e/MWh are taxed at $80/t. The 
benchmark will tighten by 2% annually and the carbon price will increase by $15/t annually until reaching $170/t 
in 2030.  

 

NON-GAAP AND OTHER FINANCIAL MEASURES  

Management evaluates MAXIM’s performance using a variety of measures. The non-GAAP measures 
discussed below should not be considered as an alternative to or to be more meaningful than revenue, net 
income of the Corporation or net cash generated from operating activities, as determined in accordance with 
GAAP, when assessing MAXIM’s financial performance or liquidity.  

These measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and may not be comparable to 
similar measures presented by other companies.   

Adjusted EBITDA  

 

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as described above from its most directly comparable GAAP measure, net 
income (loss), and adjusts for specific items that are not reflective of the Corporation’s underlying operations 
and excludes other non-cash items.  

($000's) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2022

(341)       19,477    21,946    28,295    42,277    
205        6,427      6,175      9,107      10,318    

Finance expense, net 737        1,512      3,892      5,421      6,366      
Loss on write-off of asset -             -             -             -             7,861      
Asset impairment charge -             2,002      -             2,002      -             
Depreciation and amortization 3,660      4,093      14,563    9,695      10,551    

4,261      33,511    46,576    54,520    77,373    
Adjustments:

Other expense (income) 76          (20,771)   (2,961)    (64,528)   (11,447)   
Business interruption insurance claim -             13,159    -             53,181    9,478      

309        5,409      (6,887)    6,821      170        
Share-based compensation 1,001      204        1,803      692        536        

5,647      31,512    38,531    50,686    76,110    

Twelve months ended 
December 31

Adjusted EBITDA

Income tax expense

Unrealized loss (gain) on commodity swaps

Three months ended 

GAAP Measures from Consolidated Statement of Operations

Net income (loss)

December 31
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Adjusted EBITDA is provided to assist management and investors in determining the Corporation’s approximate 
operating cash flows attributable to shareholders before finance expense, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization, and certain other non-recurring or non-cash income and expenses and as a basis for loan 
covenant calculations. Financing expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, loss on write-off of 
asset and impairment charges are excluded from the Adjusted EBITDA calculation, as they do not represent 
cash expenditures that are directly affected by operations. Management believes that presentation of this non-
GAAP measure provides useful information to investors and shareholders as it assists in the evaluation of 
performance trends. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA to compare financial results among reporting periods 
and to evaluate MAXIM’s operating performance and ability to generate funds from operating activities. 

In calculating Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 management 
excluded certain non-cash and non-recurring transactions. In both 2024 and 2023, Adjusted EBITDA excluded 
unrealized gains or losses on commodity swaps, share-based compensation and all items of other income and 
expense except for business interruption insurance proceeds as it reflects a portion of earnings that would have 
been earned if M2 was operational. 

Free Cash Flow 

  

(1) Excludes a voluntary repayment on October 17, 2024 for $49.9 million to repay all amounts owing under the Senior Credit Facility. 

FCF is calculated as described above from its most directly comparable GAAP measure from the Statement of 
Cash Flows, the funds generated from operating activities before change in non-cash working capital, and 
adjusts for specific items that are reflective of the Corporation’s underlying FCF. FCF is an important metric as 
it represents the amount of cash that is generated to potentially invest in growth initiatives, repay loans and 
borrowings outside of standard amortization payments, pay dividends and repurchase shares. In calculating 
FCF for the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, management uses the funds generated 
from operating activities before change in non-cash working capital for the period and deducts property, plant 
and equipment additions, issuance or repayment of loans and borrowings, interest expense and bank charges 
and adds interest income. 

Working Capital Surplus 

MAXIM defines working capital surplus or deficit as the current assets less current liabilities. Working capital 
surplus is used to assist management and investors in measuring liquidity. The calculation of working capital 
surplus is provided on page 14.  

Net Liquidity Available 

MAXIM defines net liquidity available as its cash and cash equivalents plus undrawn amounts on the Convertible 
Loan and the senior credit facilities. Net liquidity is used to assist management and investors in measuring the 
Corporation’s access to available capital. The calculation of net liquidity availability is included on page 13. 

Net Debt, Net Capital and Net Debt to Capital 

MAXIM defines net debt as loans and borrowings less unrestricted cash. 

MAXIM defines net capital as net debt plus shareholders’ equity. 

($000's) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2022

4,265      37,661    41,791    52,310    78,029    

(3,726)    (1,937)    (7,192)    (27,421)   (81,089)   

(1,500)    (712)       (3,638)    (2,850)    (9,138)    

Issuance of loans and borrowings -             -             -             -             37,000    
(746)       (1,946)    (6,634)    (8,114)    (7,326)    
691        742        4,436      2,932      1,265      

(1,016)    33,808    28,763    16,857    18,741    Free cash flow

Twelve months ended 
December 31

Repayment of loans and borrowings(1)

Interest expense and bank charges
Interest income

Funds generated from operating activities before change in non-
cash working capital

Property, plant and equipment additions

Three months ended 
December 31
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MAXIM defines net debt to capital as net debt divided by net capital. 

Net debt, net capital and net debt to capital are used to monitor liquidity. 

Other Assets and Other Liabilities 

MAXIM defines other assets as current tax assets, risk management asset, prepaid expenses and deposits and 
restricted cash. 

MAXIM defines other liabilities as risk management liability, lease obligation, provision for decommissioning and 
deferred tax liabilities.  

Other assets and other liabilities are used to summarize primary factors explaining change in the financial 
position section of the MD&A. 

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  

The judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements have been 
applied consistently for all periods presented and are unchanged from the judgements and estimates disclosed 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make certain 
estimates, assumptions and judgements, based on its experience, that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The following outlines the 
accounting policies and practices involving the use of estimates that are critical in determining the financial 
results of the Corporation. 

Impairment indicators 

At the end of each reporting period, management makes a judgement whether there are any indicators of 
impairment of its PP&E and intangible assets at the lowest level at which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows. If there are indicators of impairment, MAXIM performs an impairment test on the asset or the cash-
generating unit. The assessment of impairment indicators is based on management’s significant judgement of 
whether there are internal or external factors that would indicate that the cash generating unit and specifically 
the assets within that cash generating unit are impaired. The assessment of the external indicators considers 
future commodity prices. The assessment of internal indicators considers forecasted cashflows. 

The Corporation evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when management has determined that 
events or circumstances warrant such consideration. 

Decommissioning costs 

Decommissioning costs are expected to be incurred at the end of the operating life of the facilities. A provision 
is recognized when there is a present obligation to restore the site, it is probable the expenditure will be required, 
and a reliable estimate of the costs can be determined. The ultimate cost to settle these obligations is uncertain 
due to timing and cost estimates that may vary in response to many different factors including changes to 
relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques or experience at other facilities. As a 
result, there could be significant adjustments to the provisions established which could affect future financial 
results. Management bases these estimates on its best knowledge, experience in similar circumstances and in 
some cases reports from independent experts. 
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Useful life and residual value of PP&E 

Useful lives over which costs should be depreciated may be impacted by changes in the Corporation’s strategy, 
process or operations as a result of climate change initiatives. Each major component of PP&E is depreciated 
over its estimated useful life net of residual value. The estimated useful lives of the assets are based upon 
current conditions and management’s experience, which take into consideration specific contracts, agreements, 
condition of the asset, technology, production and use of the asset, and regular maintenance programs. The 
facilities are operated within equipment manufacturers’ specifications to realize the expected useful life of each 
asset. Notwithstanding these measures, the useful life of equipment may vary from that which is estimated by 
management. 

Residual value is estimated by management to be the amount that MAXIM would receive from disposal of the 
asset after deducting the estimated costs of disposal if the asset was already of the age and in the condition 
expected at the end of its useful life. Actual amounts received may differ from estimated amounts. 

Impairment of non-financial assets  

The recoverable amount of a cash generating unit or asset is determined based on the higher of its fair value 
less costs of disposal or its value-in-use (the present value of the estimated future cash flows). Management is 
required to make assumptions about future cash flows including future commodity prices, expected generation, 
future operating and development costs, discount rates, sustaining capital programs and tax rates. It is possible 
that future cash flow assumptions may change. This may impact the estimated fair value of the associated asset 
and may require a material adjustment to the carrying value of the asset. 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial risks and financial instruments 

At the date of this MD&A, the Corporation’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, 
restricted cash, prepaid expenses and deposits, trade and other receivables, risk management assets and 
liabilities, trade and other payables and loans and borrowings.  

The fair value of a financial instrument is a point in time estimate of the amount of consideration that would be 
agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties who are under no 
compulsion to act. MAXIM faces the risk that fair values of financial instruments will fluctuate or that estimates 
used regarding fair values will be inaccurate.  

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables, prepaid 
expenses and deposits, and trade and other payables included in MAXIM’s statements of financial position 
approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of the instruments.  

The fair values of the power and natural gas commodity swaps are determined by applying the market approach 
using market settled forward prices as reported by the Natural Gas Exchange for forward contracts of 
comparable term at the reporting date. 

The Corporation has exposure to the following financial risks arising from financial instruments: 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the possibility that a counterparty that owes money to the Corporation is unable or 
unwilling to fulfill their obligations. The extent of the risk depends on the credit quality of the counterparty to 
which the Corporation provides goods or service. At December 31, 2024, MAXIM’s credit exposure 
consisted primarily of the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other 
receivables and risk management asset.  

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are held with banking counterparties which are rated AA, 
and AA-, based on rating agency Standard & Poor’s. 
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Trade and other receivables are predominantly with entities formed by governments for the purpose of 
facilitating commerce in the power and utility sector. For trade and other receivables from third parties and 
deposits to vendors who are not government sponsored entities, the Corporation utilizes regular credit 
monitoring processes to mitigate credit risk. MAXIM does not expect any losses from trade and other 
receivables. 

(b)  Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that MAXIM will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.  
MAXIM’s approach to managing liquidity is through regular monitoring of cash requirements by preparing 
short-term and long-term cash flow analyses. MAXIM uses cash and cash equivalents to manage short-
term working capital requirements as well as the timing of development capital. MAXIM does not require 
additional financing to manage liquidity as of the date of this MD&A. Refer to the Liquidity and Capital 
Resources section on page 12 and Forward Looking Information section on page 6 for further details.  

(c)  Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
commodity price risks will affect the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control risk exposures, while optimizing cash 
flows to the Corporation.  

(i) Foreign currency exchange risk 

The Corporation is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk to the extent that revenue, expenses and 
monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies that differ from the functional currency of 
the respective entity within the consolidated group.  The Corporation has not hedged the exposure 
related to capital expenditures, revenues and expenses. At December 31, 2024, the Corporation is 
exposed to foreign currency exchange risk relating to accounts payable denominated in United States 
dollars. A strengthening (weakening) of the Canadian dollar by 10% against the United States dollar for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 would have decreased (increased) accounts payable by $0.1 million 
(2023 - $0.1 million) as a result of these exposures. 

 (ii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk of change in the borrowing and investing rates of the Corporation. MAXIM 
partially mitigates its interest rate risk by maintaining fixed rate loans and borrowings and periodically 
entering into interest rate swap agreements to change floating rate debt to fixed rate debt. MAXIM’s 
$25.0 million Revolver Facility #1 is at variable rates and is the Corporation’s only credit facility with 
availability. As at December 31, 2024, no amounts are drawn on this facility and therefore MAXIM’s 
interest rate risk is currently nil until the facility is drawn upon. 

 (iii) Commodity price risk 

Commodity price risk is the risk of price volatility of commodity prices, such as electricity and natural 
gas. The Corporation periodically reduces its exposure to commodity price risk by entering fixed floating 
swaps for the price of electricity and natural gas in Alberta. Based on the unsettled power commodity 
swaps for the year ended December 31, 2024, an appreciation in electricity prices in the Alberta power 
market by $1 per MWh would have decreased risk management assets relating to unsettled power 
commodity swaps by $0.3 million (2023 - $0.2 million). A weakening of electricity prices by this amount 
would have the opposite effect on risk management assets relating to unsettled power commodity 
swaps. Based on the unsettled natural gas commodity swaps for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
an appreciation in natural gas prices in the Alberta natural gas commodity market by $0.10 per GJ would 
have decreased the risk management liability related to natural gas commodity swaps by $0.4 million 
(2023 - $0.8 million). A weakening of natural gas prices by this amount would have the opposite effect 
on risk management liability related to natural gas commodity swaps. 
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Risk Factors 

Risk is inherent in all business activities and cannot be entirely eliminated. However, shareholder value can be 
maintained and enhanced by identifying, mitigating, and where possible, insuring against these risks. The 
following section addresses some, but not all, risk factors that could affect MAXIM’s future results, as well as 
activities used to mitigate such risks.  These risks do not occur in isolation, but must be considered in conjunction 
with each other.   

The board of directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of MAXIM’s risk 
management framework. The board has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is 
responsible for developing and monitoring MAXIM’s compliance with risk management policies and procedures. 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities. 

MAXIM’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by MAXIM, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and MAXIM’s activities.  MAXIM, 
through its training programs and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

General 

Marketability of MAXIM's services may be affected by numerous factors, some of which are beyond the control 
of MAXIM. These factors include competition, demand fluctuations, price levels, the proximity, capacity, and 
physical properties of processing equipment and supplies and government regulation. Electricity operations 
(production, pricing and transportation) are, or may in the future be, subject to extensive controls and regulations 
imposed by various levels of government which may be amended from time to time. 

Power Prices 

A substantial portion of MAXIM's revenues are directly tied to the market price for electricity in the market in 
which MAXIM operates. Market electricity prices are impacted by a number of factors, including: the price of 
fuel, the strength of the economy which impacts the supply of and demand for electricity, the management of 
generation and the amount of excess installed generating capacity relative to load in the market. Additionally, 
demand for power in the market can be materially impacted by weather conditions. As a result, future electricity 
prices and price volatility can have a material adverse effect on MAXIM. 

Sale of Electricity on a Merchant Basis 

MAXIM depends largely on its electricity customers. M2 operates on a merchant basis, selling its electricity into 
the spot market and is exposed to fluctuating Alberta power prices, which at times can exhibit extreme price 
volatility. The profitability of this merchant power plant is largely impacted by the price of electricity, the cost of 
fuel, and the efficiency with which the plant converts fuel into electricity, which is commonly referred to as plant 
heat rate. 

Natural Gas Prices 

A substantial portion of MAXIM's fuel costs are directly tied to the market price for natural gas in the market in 
which MAXIM operates. Market natural gas prices are impacted by a number of factors, including: supply and 
demand, storage volumes and volumes of natural gas imports and exports. Additionally, demand for natural gas 
in the market can be materially impacted by weather conditions. As a result, future gas prices and price volatility 
can have a material adverse effect on MAXIM. 

Natural Gas Supply 

M2 currently procures a portion of its natural gas transportation service on a firm basis and the balance on an 
interruptible basis. There is a risk of curtailment from gas delivery system constraints that could interrupt supply 
and have a material adverse effect on MAXIM. 
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Concentration of Revenues and Risks of Interruption and Losses 

MAXIM's business operations comprise of the Corporation's operating asset, M2, a natural gas power 
generation facility. MAXIM’s operations face many hazards inherent in the power producing business, including 
fires, explosions, loss of or damages to equipment. In the event of a disruption or other event that prevents the 
operation of M2, all of MAXIM’s revenue generating operations will cease which could have a significant material 
adverse effect on MAXIM. Additionally, any of these hazards could result in personal injury or death, damage 
to or destruction of equipment and facilities, environmental damage, and damage to the property of others, 
which could result in claim against MAXIM or have a significant material adverse effect on MAXIM. MAXIM 
partially mitigates this risk by entering into appropriate insurance for disruptions or other events. MAXIM's 
business may be subject to increased risks related to its limited asset base, geographic concentration and 
revenue generating capability. For the year ended December 31, 2024, M2 accounted for 100% (December 31, 
2023 – 100%) of MAXIM's consolidated revenues. 

Industry Risks 

MAXIM's continuing operations are currently subject to risks as Canada and Alberta continue to focus on policy 
pertaining to natural gas-fired generation and renewable power. These risks are being mitigated by the 
Corporation through its natural gas and wind development projects, including the CCGT expansion of M2 which 
captures waste heat and turns it into useful electricity for the Alberta power grid. 

Electric energy projects involve many risks, which even a combination of experience, knowledge and careful 
evaluation may not be able to overcome. The Corporation is dependent upon the creditworthiness and delivery 
obligations of its counterparties. The failure of such parties to conduct their business in accordance with contract 
terms and conditions could have a material negative impact on MAXIM's financial results. 

The Corporation's operations are subject to the risks normally incidental to a power project's operations, 
including equipment malfunctions, technical risks and operational upsets. These risks have been partially 
mitigated by performance, insurance and warranty conditions in place with MAXIM's current equipment suppliers 
for the term of the contracts. In accordance with customary industry practice, MAXIM is not, and will not be, fully 
insured against all of these risks, nor are all such risks insurable.   

MAXIM has exposure to market fluctuations in the demand for and price of electricity and generating capacity 
and is exposed to the risk of operational problems with facilities and extensive government regulation relating 
to price, taxes, royalties, exports and many other aspects of the electric energy business. The Corporation is 
also subject to a variety of waste disposal, pollution control and similar environmental laws. These risks are 
managed by environmental monitoring, compliance reporting, and practices pertaining to tax compliance. 
MAXIM assumes gas and power price risk, and periodically employs hedging to manage this risk.  

Tariffs imposed by the United States on Canada and other countries, and any retaliatory measures implemented 
by Canada and other countries could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business by potentially 
causing an economic downturn, which may reduce demand for power. Additionally, the Corporation's operating 
costs may increase as a result of tariffs or trade disputes due to potentially increased prices for supplies. 

Power generation operations are subject to the risk normally encountered by companies engaged in activity 
utilizing mechanical electricity generation techniques, including unusual and unexpected power draws, 
mechanical difficulties and other conditions involved in the generation of energy using these methods. Although 
adequate precautions to minimize risk are routinely taken, power generation operations are subject to hazards 
such as equipment failure or failure of power distribution systems being served which may result in service 
interruption. Such interruption may adversely affect the ability of MAXIM to fulfill its duties under power 
generation contracts and regulated tariffs, and may affect its ability to attract new customers.  In addition, the 
existing power distribution system in the areas served or to be served by MAXIM may not be capable of 
effectively distributing all of the electricity supplied by MAXIM. 
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MAXIM purchases its power generation equipment from various sources. The cost of future equipment 
purchases may be higher than currently envisaged due to unforeseen circumstances including fluctuations in 
currency exchange rates, supply chain disruptions and inflation. Such unforeseen circumstances may have an 
adverse impact on MAXIM's future earnings potential. 

Carbon Pricing Risk 

The majority of countries across the globe have agreed to reduce their carbon emissions in accordance with the 
Paris Agreement, however, the United States recently withdrew from the Paris Agreement. In Canada, the 
federal and certain provincial governments have implemented legislation aimed at incentivizing the use of 
alternative fuels and in turn reducing carbon emissions. The taxes placed on carbon emissions and other 
legislation that could limit carbon emissions produced by electricity generated fossil fuels may have the effect 
of increasing the Corporation's operating expenses, which may have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation's profitability and financial condition. 

Climate Change 

The Corporation's facilities and other operations and activities emit Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) which may require 
the Corporation to comply with GHG emissions legislation at the provincial or federal level. Climate change 
policy is evolving at regional, national and international levels, and political and economic events may 
significantly affect the scope and timing of climate change measures that are ultimately put in place. As a 
signatory to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and a signatory to the Paris 
Agreement, which was ratified in Canada on October 3, 2016, the Government of Canada pledged to cut its 
GHG emissions by thirty percent from 2005 levels by 2030. One of the pertinent policies announced to date by 
the Government of Canada to reduce GHG emission is the implementation of a nation-wide price on carbon 
emissions via the Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act (“GGPPA”). The GGPPA established the framework 
for the federal carbon pollution pricing backstop system consisting of two main parts: a regulatory charge on 
fossil fuels (fuel charge) and a regulatory trading system for industry, known as the Output-Based Pricing 
System (“OBPS”). The federal fuel charge currently applies in Alberta; however, the Corporation is largely 
exempt from direct payments of the federal fuel charges because MAXIM is taxed at the provincial level, via 
TIER, since TIER was deemed to be equivalent to the federal OBPS. 

Concerns about climate change have resulted in a number of environmental activists and members of the public 
opposing the continued exploitation and development of fossil fuels. Historically, political and legal opposition 
to the fossil fuel industry focused on public opinion and the regulatory process. More recently, however, there 
has been a movement to more directly hold governments and oil and natural gas companies responsible for 
climate change through climate litigation. Given the evolving nature of the debate related to climate change and 
the control of GHG and resulting requirements, it is expected that current and future climate change regulations 
will have the effect of increasing the Corporation's operating expenses. 

In addition, there has been public discussion that climate change may be associated with extreme weather 
conditions and increased volatility in seasonal temperatures. Extreme weather could interfere with the 
Corporation's production and increase the Corporation's costs. 

Extreme hot and cold weather, heavy snowfall, heavy rainfall and wildfires may restrict MAXIM's ability to access 
its properties, cause operational difficulties, or disruptions, including damage to machinery and facilities. 
Extreme weather also increases the risk of personnel injury as a result of dangerous working conditions. 
MAXIM's assets are located in locations that are proximate to forests and rivers and a wildfire and/or flood may 
lead to significant downtime and/or damage to such assets. Given the cleared setbacks surrounding MAXIM's 
assets, there is minimal risk to such assets in the event of a wildfire. 

Drought may impact MAXIM’s ability to consume water necessary for M2 under CCGT operations. MAXIM 
monitors river water levels and works with the GoA to ensure it can maintain the necessary water supply to 
operate under CCGT operations. 
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In addition to the physical and regulatory effects of climate change on MAXIM’s business, an increasing focus 
on the reduction of GHG emissions and potential shift to other alternative energy sources may result in lower 
demand for the power MAXIM generates from M2 and could impact the Corporations access to capital. 

Regulation of Industry 

MAXIM's activities are subject to complex and stringent energy, environmental and other governmental laws 
and regulations. The construction and operation of power generation facilities require numerous permits, 
approvals and certificates from appropriate federal, provincial and local governmental agencies, as well as 
compliance with environmental protection legislation and other regulations. MAXIM is subject to a varied and 
complex body of laws and regulations that both government agencies and private corporations and individuals 
may seek to enforce and, although the Corporation makes efforts to comply with all applicable legislation, it 
could be subject to fines, penalties or other liabilities arising from non-compliance with such applicable laws and 
regulations. Existing laws and regulations may be revised or new laws and regulations may become applicable 
to MAXIM that may have a negative effect on MAXIM's business and results of operations. MAXIM may be 
unable to obtain all necessary licenses, permits, approvals and certificates for proposed projects, and completed 
facilities may not comply with all applicable permit conditions, statutes or regulations. In addition, regulatory 
compliance for the construction of new facilities is a costly and time-consuming process. Intricate and changing 
environmental and other regulatory requirements may necessitate substantial expenditures to obtain permits.  
If a project is unable to function as planned due to changing requirements or local opposition, it may create 
expensive delays or loss of value in a project.  

Environmental Regulations 

MAXIM's operations must comply with a complex and evolving body of environmental, health, and safety laws 
and regulations ("EHS Laws"). The EHS Laws concern, among other things, air emissions, climate change, 
discharges to soil, surface water, ground water, noise control, the generation, handling, storage, transportation, 
and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, the investigation and remediation of contamination, indoor 
air quality, and worker health and safety. Although the Corporation makes efforts to do so, it may not be able to 
meet all EHS Laws and could be subject to fines, penalties or other liabilities arising from actions imposed under 
EHS Laws. In addition, the Corporation's costs associated with staying in compliance with EHS Laws could 
increase in the future. 

EHS Laws vary by location and can fall within federal, provincial or municipal jurisdictions. There is a risk that 
MAXIM has not been in compliance or, in the future, will not comply with such requirements. Violations could 
result in penalties or the curtailment or cessation of operations, any of which could have a material adverse 
effect on MAXIM's operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

For example, the Corporation is required to comply with EHS Laws that restrict emissions of air pollutants. 
Accordingly, the Corporation must invest in pollution control equipment to comply with EHS Laws and report 
excess emissions to applicable government authorities. The government authorities monitor compliance with 
these emission limits and use a variety of tools to enforce them, including, but not limited to, administrative 
orders to control, prevent or stop a certain activity; administrative penalties for violating certain EHS Laws; and 
regulatory prosecutions. 

EHS Laws also apply to the Corporation's wastewater. EHS Laws restrict the type and amount of pollutants that 
the Corporation's facility can discharge into receiving bodies of water, such as rivers, lakes and oceans, and 
into municipal sanitary and storm sewers. Government authorities can enforce these restrictions through 
administrative orders and penalties and regulatory proceedings. The Corporation has installed all necessary 
pollution control equipment at its power plant to address emissions and discharge limits. 

EHS Laws also relate to health and safety. The Corporation's operations involve the use of machinery and 
equipment, which may result in the exposure to various potentially hazardous substances. Notwithstanding the 
Corporation's commitment to adhere to EHS Laws, workplace illnesses and accidents, including serious injury 
and fatalities, may occur. Any serious occurrences of this nature could have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation's operations, cash flows and financial condition. 
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Other EHS Laws regulate the generation, storage, transport, and disposal of hazardous waste. These laws 
require the transportation of hazardous wastes by an approved hauler to an approved waste disposal site. The 
Corporation has a system for properly handling, storing, and arranging for the disposal of the waste it produces 
in place, but non-compliance remains an inherent risk, and could have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation's operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

Certain EHS Laws impose joint and several liabilities on certain classes of persons for the costs of investigation 
and remediation of contaminated properties. Liability may attach regardless of fault or the legality of the original 
disposal. Although it is the Corporation's view that other parties are responsible for the investigation and 
remediation of these sites under applicable law and contractual arrangements, it could nevertheless be liable 
for the costs of future remediation if other responsible parties do not satisfy their obligations. Remediation costs 
for any contamination, whether known or not yet discovered, could be substantial and thus have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation's operations, cash flows, and financial condition. 

EHS Laws require the Corporation to obtain governmental permits, licenses, and approvals. These permits, 
licenses, and approvals may be subject to denial, revocation or modification at various times, including, but not 
limited to, when the Corporation applies for renewal of existing permits. Failure to obtain or comply with the 
conditions of permits, licenses and approvals may adversely affect the Corporation's operations, cash flows and 
financial condition and may subject the Corporation to penalties. In addition, the Corporation may be required 
to obtain additional operating permits or governmental approvals and licenses, and incur additional costs. 

Litigation 

In the normal course of the Corporation's operations, MAXIM may become involved in, named as a party to, or 
be the subject of, various legal proceedings, including regulatory proceedings, tax proceedings and legal 
actions. Potential litigation may develop in relation to personal injuries (including resulting from exposure to 
hazardous substances, property damage, property taxes, land and access rights, environmental issues, 
including claims relating to contamination or natural resource damages and contract disputes). The outcome 
with respect to outstanding, pending or future proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and may be 
determined adversely to the Corporation and could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's assets, 
liabilities, business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if the Corporation prevails in any such 
legal proceedings, the proceedings could be costly and time-consuming and may divert the attention of 
management and key personnel from business operations, which could have an adverse affect on the 
Corporation's financial condition. 

Project Development 

MAXIM's project development activities may not be successful. The development of power generation facilities 
and power related projects is subject to substantial risks. In connection with the development of a power 
generation facility, MAXIM must generally obtain necessary power generation equipment, governmental permits 
and approvals, fuel supply and transportation agreements, sufficient equity capital and debt financing, electrical 
interconnection agreements, site agreements and construction contracts, and access to power grids. Failure to 
obtain any of the foregoing may result in increased costs or termination of projects, which may lead to a write 
down of the carrying amount of projects. MAXIM mitigates these risks by using skilled staff, hiring consultants, 
contracting certain activities on a turn-key basis, and following a disciplined model of managing capital at risk 
on a progressive basis. 

MAXIM may not realize benefits from investments into the CCGT expansion of M2, or other projects, for several 
years or may not realize benefits from such investments at all. Failure to realize the intended benefits from such 
investments could adversely affect the Corporations results from operations. 
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Competition 

The electricity production industry is competitive in all phases. Deregulation in the power industry has eliminated 
the traditional barriers to entry and is allowing independent power producers to enter the market. MAXIM, as an 
independent power producer in that industry, faces competition from other independent power producers and 
major companies whose electricity production and sale is collateral to their core business. MAXIM holds no 
proprietary interests in the technology utilized by it in the power generation business and accordingly there are 
no barriers impeding new competitors from entering into the same business or utilizing the same technology as 
MAXIM or different power generation technologies. MAXIM mitigates this risk through timely investments, 
strategic relations, optimizing its capital structure to lower its cost of capital and effective capital deployment and 
asset optimization. 

Management 

MAXIM strongly depends, and will continue to depend, on the business and technical expertise of its 
management. The unexpected loss of any of MAXIM's key management personnel may have a serious impact 
on MAXIM's business. At present, no employee has a key-man insurance policy in place. All members of 
MAXIM's management have entered into non-competition and non-disclosure agreements with MAXIM.  

Future Financing and Project Financing 

MAXIM may require additional financing to proceed with its business activities; however, there is no assurance 
that adequate financing will be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Should MAXIM be unable to obtain 
financing for its development initiatives, it may be necessary to write down the carrying value of certain 
development initiatives. 

Depending upon future capital plans, MAXIM may require additional equity and/or debt financing that may not 
be available or, if available, may not be available on favourable terms. Neither MAXIM's articles nor its by-laws 
limit the amount of indebtedness that MAXIM may incur. The level of MAXIM's indebtedness from time to time 
could impair the ability of MAXIM to obtain additional financing on a timely basis to take advantage of business 
opportunities that may arise. 

Leverage and Borrowing Risk 

The Corporation's indebtedness could adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations, which 
may prevent the Corporation from fulfilling its obligations under its indebtedness. The Corporation's 
maintenance of increased levels of debt could adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations 
and could adversely affect its flexibility to take advantage of corporate opportunities. The Corporation's degree 
of leverage could have adverse consequences for the Corporation, including:  

 limiting the Corporation's ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, 
development, debt service requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; 

 restricting the Corporation's flexibility and discretion to operate its business; 

 requiring a substantial portion of the Corporation's cash flows from operating activities to be dedicated 
to debt; 

 require debt service payments, including the payment of interest on its indebtedness and fees, thereby 
reducing the amount of cash flow available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, future 
business opportunities and other general corporate purposes; 

 limiting the Corporation's ability to adjust to changing market conditions and limiting the Corporation's 
flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industry in which it competes; 

 increasing the Corporation's vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; and 

 increasing the Corporation's cost of borrowing. 
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The Corporation's ability to service its debt will depend upon, among other things, the Corporation's future 
financial and operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions, commodity 
prices, interest rate fluctuations and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, including the operations 
at M2, some of which are beyond the Corporation's control. If the Corporation's operating results are not 
sufficient to service its current or future indebtedness, the Corporation may be forced to take actions such as 
reducing or delaying business activities, investments or capital expenditures, selling assets, restructuring or 
refinancing the Corporation's debt, or seeking additional equity capital. 

Insurance 

MAXIM's involvement in the power industry may result in MAXIM becoming subject to liability for pollution, 
property damage, personal injury or other hazards. Although MAXIM maintains insurance in accordance with 
industry standards to address certain of these risks, such insurance has limitations on liability and may not be 
sufficient to cover the full extent of such liabilities. In addition, certain risks are not, in all circumstances, insurable 
or, in certain circumstances, MAXIM may elect not to obtain insurance to deal with specific risks due to the high 
premiums associated with such insurance or other reasons. The payment of any uninsured liabilities would 
reduce the funds available to MAXIM. The occurrence of a significant event that MAXIM is not fully insured 
against, or the insolvency of the insurer of such event, may have a material adverse effect on MAXIM's business, 
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Disease Outbreaks 

MAXIM's operations with respect to Milner and M2 are located in areas relatively remote from local towns and 
villages and represent a concentration of personnel working and residing in close proximity to one another. 
Should an employee or visitor become infected with a serious illness that has the potential to spread rapidly, 
this could place MAXIM's workforce at risk. The 2020 outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in China 
and other countries around the world is one example of such an illness. MAXIM takes precautions to strictly 
follow industrial hygiene and occupational health guidelines. There can be no assurance that this virus or 
another infectious illness will not impact MAXIM's personnel and ultimately its operations. 

The demand for electricity is generally linked to broad-based economic activities in the jurisdictions MAXIM 
operates (or intends to operate). If there was a slowdown in economic growth, an economic downturn or 
recession or other adverse economic or political development in the jurisdictions where MAXIM operates (or 
intends to operate), there could be a significant material adverse effect on global financial markets and market 
prices. Global or national health concerns, including the outbreak of pandemic or contagious diseases, such as 
the recent COVID-19 pandemic and any future related outbreaks, may adversely affect MAXIM by (i) reducing 
economic activity thereby resulting in lower demand for electricity consumption (with related effects of power 
pricing), (ii) impairing its supply chain (for example, by limiting the manufacturing of materials or the supply of 
services used in MAXIM's operations), and (iii) affecting the health of its workforce, rendering employees unable 
to work or travel. 

Pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks of an infectious disease in Canada or worldwide, including COVID-19, 
Middle East Respiratory Syndrome, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome, H1N1 influenza virus, avian flu or any 
other similar illnesses could have an adverse impact on MAXIM's results, business, financial condition or 
liquidity. 

The Corporation's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, reputation, access to capital, 
cost of borrowing, access to liquidity, and/or business plans may, in particular, and without limitation, be 
adversely impacted as a result of pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks of an infectious disease in Canada or 
worldwide and/or decline in power prices as a result of: 

 the shut-down of facilities or the delay or suspension of work on major capital projects due to workforce 
disruption or labour shortages caused by workers becoming infected, or government or health authority 
mandated restrictions on travel by workers or closure of facilities or worksites; 

 suppliers and third-party vendors experiencing similar workforce disruption or being ordered to cease 
operations; 
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 reduced cash flows resulting in less funds from operations being available to fund capital expenditure 
budgets; 

 reduced power prices resulting in a reduction in cash flows; 

 counterparties being unable to fulfill their contractual obligations on a timely basis or at all; and 

 the ability to obtain additional capital including, but not limited to, debt and equity financing being 
adversely impacted as a result of unpredictable financial markets, commodity prices and/or a change 
in market fundamentals. 

Pandemics could also create additional operational risks for MAXIM, including the need to provide enhanced 
safety measures for its employees and customers; address the risk of attempted fraudulent activity and 
cybersecurity threat behaviour; and protect the integrity and functionality of MAXIM's systems, networks, and 
data as employees work remotely. 

Significant Shareholders 

M. Bruce Chernoff currently owns or controls approximately 38.2% of the outstanding Common Shares and W. 
Brett Wilson currently owns or controls approximately 38.1% of the outstanding Common Shares. If such 
person's ownership percentage increases significantly, such persons may have, subject to applicable law, the 
ability to determine the outcome of certain matters submitted to the shareholders for approval in the future, 
including the election and removal of directors, amendments to the Corporation's corporate governing 
documents and certain business combinations. The Corporation's interests and those of its controlling 
shareholders may at times conflict, and this conflict might be resolved against the Corporation's interests. The 
concentration of control in the hands of a significant shareholders may impact the potential for the initiation, or 
the success, of an unsolicited bid for the Corporation's securities. 

Dividend Record 

During 2024, MAXIM declared and paid a Special Dividend to the common shareholders at the date of record. 
As of the date of this MD&A, MAXIM has no other dividend record and is limited to the amount it could distribute. 
In the future, any decision to pay dividends on the Corporation's shares will be made by the board of directors 
on the basis of the Corporation's earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at such time. 

Sale of Additional Shares 

MAXIM may issue additional shares in the future. It is not possible to predict the size of future issuances of 
shares or the effect, if any, that future issuances of shares will have on the market price of its shares.  

Breach of Confidentiality 

While discussing potential business relationships or other transactions with third parties, the Corporation may 
disclose confidential information relating to its business, operations or affairs. Although confidentiality 
agreements are generally signed by third parties prior to the disclosure of any confidential information, a breach 
could put the Corporation at competitive risk and may cause significant damage to its business. The harm to 
the Corporation's business from a breach of confidentiality cannot presently be quantified, but may be material 
and may not be compensable in damages. There is no assurance that, in the event of a breach of confidentiality, 
the Corporation will be able to obtain equitable remedies, such as injunctive relief, from a court of competent 
jurisdiction in a timely manner, if at all, in order to prevent or mitigate any damage to its business that such a 
breach of confidentiality may cause. 

Income Taxes 

The Corporation files all required income tax returns and believes that it is in full compliance with the provisions 
of applicable tax legislation. However, such returns are subject to reassessment by the applicable taxation 
authority. In the event of a reassessment of the Corporation, such reassessment may have an impact on current 
and future taxes payable. 



MAXIM POWER CORP. | Q4 2024 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 Page 30 

Income tax laws may in the future be changed or interpreted in a manner that adversely affects the Corporation. 
Furthermore, tax authorities having jurisdiction over the Corporation may disagree with how the Corporation 
calculates its income for tax purposes or could change administrative practices to the Corporation's detriment. 

Information Technology Systems and Cyber-Security 

The Corporation has become increasingly dependent upon the availability, capacity, reliability and security of 
its information technology infrastructure and its ability to expand and continually update this infrastructure to 
conduct daily operations. The Corporation depends on various information technology systems to process and 
record financial data, manage financial resources, administer its contracts and communicate with employees 
and third-party partners. 

Further, the Corporation is subject to a variety of information technology and system risks as a part of its normal 
course operations, including potential breakdown, invasion, virus, cyber-attack, cyber-fraud, security breach, 
and destruction or interruption of the Corporation’s information technology systems by third parties or 
employees. Unauthorized access to these systems by employees or third parties could lead to corruption or 
exposure of confidential, fiduciary or proprietary information, interruption to communications or operations or 
disruption to our business activities or our competitive position. In addition, cyber phishing attempts, in which a 
malicious party attempts to obtain sensitive information such as usernames, passwords, and credit card details 
(and money) by disguising as a trustworthy entity in an electronic communication, have become more 
widespread and sophisticated in recent years. If the Corporation becomes a victim to a cyber phishing attack it 
could result in a loss or theft of the Corporation's financial resources or critical data and information, or could 
result in a loss of control of the Corporation's technological infrastructure or financial resources. The 
Corporation's employees are often the targets of such cyber phishing attacks, as they are and will continue to 
be targeted by parties using fraudulent "spoof" emails to misappropriate information or to introduce viruses or 
other malware through "Trojan horse" programs to the Corporation's computers. These emails appear to be 
legitimate emails, but direct recipients to fake websites operated by the sender of the email or request recipients 
to send a password or other confidential information through email or to download malware. 

Forward-Looking Information 

Shareholders and prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the Corporation's forward-
looking information. By its nature, forward-looking information involves numerous assumptions, known and 
unknown risks and uncertainties, of both a general and specific nature, that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those suggested by the forward-looking information or contribute to the possibility that 
predictions, forecasts or projections will prove to be materially inaccurate. Additional information on the risks, 
assumption and uncertainties are found under the heading "Forward-Looking Information" on page 6. 

Off-balance sheet arrangements 

MAXIM does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current 
or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition, including the Corporation’s liquidity and capital 
resources, with the exception of contingent liabilities, contingent assets and purchase obligations, which are 
disclosed on page 15.  

 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

IFRS Standards Issued Not Yet Effective and Amendments 

On April 9, 2024, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued IFRS 18 – Presentation and 
Disclosure in Financial Statements which introduces new requirements for comparability in the statement of 
profit or loss, performance measures and grouping of information in the financial statements. IFRS 18 will 
replace IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements and will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2027, with early application permitted. Management is currently assessing the impact of 
IFRS 18 on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. 
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The Corporation analyzes the impact of issued standards and there are no standards, other than noted above, 
that have been issued, but not yet effective, that the Corporation anticipates having a material effect on the 
consolidated financial statements once adopted.  

Reporting Regulations 

In June 2023, the International Sustainability Standards Board ("ISSB") issued IFRS S1 General Requirements 
for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information and IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures which 
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. These standards provide for 
transition relief in IFRS S1 that allow reporting entity to report on only climate-related risks and opportunities in 
the first year of reporting under the sustainability standards. In December 2024, the Canadian Sustainability 
Standards Board (“CSSB”) issued similar standards, as issued by the ISSB, for Canadian companies with some 
further transition relief relative to the timing of adoption and scope of reporting. 

There is no requirement for public companies in Canada to adopt the ISSB or CSSB standards until the 
Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”) have issued a decision on reporting requirements in Canada. 

The CSA are responsible for determining the reporting requirements for public companies in Canada and are 
responsible for decisions related to the adoption of the sustainability disclosure standard, including the effective 
annual reporting dates. The CSA issued proposed National Instrument NI-51-107 - Disclosure of Climate-related 
Matters in October 2021. The CSA intends to consider the CSSB and ISSB standards in addition to development 
in United States reporting requirements in its decision relating to development of climate-related disclosure 
requirements for Canadian reporting issuers. While the Corporation is actively reviewing the standards, it has 
not yet determined the impact on future financial statements nor has it quantified the costs to comply with such 
standards. 

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  

Related party transactions during 2024 and 2023 included the Convertible Loan discussed on page 13 and 
payments to key management personnel that includes the Corporation’s Directors and Named Executive 
Officers as summarized in the following table. 

 

 

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

The Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), together with management have 
designed and maintained disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) material 
information relating to the Corporation is made known to the CEO and the CFO by others, particularly during 
the period in which the annual and interim filings are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed 
by the Corporation in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities 
legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in securities 
legislation. 

The CEO and the CFO are also responsible for designing and maintaining internal control over financial 
reporting, as defined under rules adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators, within the Corporation that 
are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. MAXIM has adopted the 2013 Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission for the design of its internal control over financial reporting. 

($000's) 2024 2023

Short-term employee benefits, including wages and benefits          2,113            2,277 

Share-based payments            740               503 

Total          2,853            2,780 
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The CEO and CFO have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the design and 
effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting and have found them to be effective 
as of December 31, 2024. 

The Corporation is required to disclose herein any change in the Corporation's internal control over financial 
reporting that occurred during the period beginning October 1, 2024 and ended on December 31, 2024 that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal control over financial 
reporting. No material changes in the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting were identified during 
such period that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation's internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, because of its inherent limitations a control system can provide only reasonable 
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met and may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Management’s estimates may be incorrect, or assumptions about future events may be incorrect, resulting in 
varying results. In addition, management is in constant engagement to minimize the likelihood of fraud. 
However, any control system can be circumvented through collusion and illegal acts. 

 

OTHER INFORMATION 

Outstanding share data: 

 

Additional information relating to MAXIM including the Annual Information Form is posted on SEDAR+ at 
www.sedarplus.ca under Maxim Power Corp. and at the Corporation’s website www.maximpowercorp.com. 

63,693,029   
2,408,628    

   66,101,657 
61,666         

66,163,323   

Outstanding share options at December 31, 2024
Issued common shares at December 31, 2024

Total diluted common shares at March 21, 2025
Share options granted in January 2025
Total diluted common shares at December 31, 2024
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS  

The following listing includes definitions of certain terms used throughout this MD&A:  
AER 

AESO 

Buffalo Atlee 

Capacity 

Alberta Energy Regulator 

Alberta Electric System Operator 

Buffalo Atlee is a development project for up to 200 MW of wind generation situated near Brooks, Alberta 

The rated continuous load-carrying ability, expressed in megawatts, of generation equipment, (throughout 

the MD&A references to capacity are stated in nameplate capacity, unless otherwise noted) 

Carbon Cost 

CCGT 

CEO 

Greenhouse Gas Emission Compliance Cost 

Combined Cycle Gas Turbine 

Chief Executive Officer 

CFO Chief Financial Officer  

CO2e 

Common Shares 

Convertible Loan 

CSA 

CSSB 

Closing  

Carbon Dioxide Equivalent 

Common Shares of MAXIM 

Convertible Loan Facility 

Canadian Securities Administrators 

Canadian Sustainability Standards Board 

Closing of PSA 

Adjusted EBITDA 

EHS Laws 

ERED 

FCF 

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization 

EHS Laws 

Emissions Reduction and Energy Development 

Free Cash Flow 

FLI Forward-looking information 

GAAP 

GHG 

GJ 

IFRS, as set out in Part 1 of the CPA Canada Handbook of the CPAs of Canada  

Greenhouse Gas  

Gigajoule 

GoA 

GGPPA 

Government of Alberta 

Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act 

ICFR 

IFRS 

ISSB 

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

International Sustainability Standards Board 

Milner 

 

HR Milner, a 150 MW (nameplate capacity) generating facility located near the town of Grande Cache, 

Alberta since 1972 and was acquired by MAXIM on March 31, 2005 

M2 M2 is a CCGT facility located at the Milner site near Grande Cache, Alberta, with a maximum capability of 

300 MW  

MAXIM or the 

Corporation 

Maxim Power Corp. 

MD&A 

MSA 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Market Surveillance Administrator 

MW Megawatt, a measure of electrical generating capacity that is equivalent to one million watts 

MWh 

 

NCIB 

Non-Injury Fire 

OBPS 

Megawatt-hour, a measure of electricity consumption equivalent to the use of 1,000,000 watts of power 

over a period of one hour 

Normal Course Issuer Bid 

A fire occurring on September 30, 2022 that caused damage to M2's air inlet filter house 

Output-Based Pricing System 

O&M 

PSA 

Special Dividend 

Summit 

Operations and Maintenance 

Purchase and Sale Agreement between MAXIM and Valory relating to Summit 

Special Dividend of $0.50 per Common Share 

Summit Coal LP and Summit Coal Inc. 

TIER 

Valory 

Technology Innovation and Emissions Reduction Regulation 

Valory Resources Inc. 

Words importing the singular number, where the context requires, include the plural, and vice versa, and words importing any gender 

include all genders.  

 


